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Chairman’s Statement

　
　

Dear shareholders,

It’s another year of financial reporting season, a Chinese poem “Flowers look similar every year, but no people will 

look similar every year” popped in my mind as I reviewed this year’s results.

At the beginning of 2020, when the whole world was looking forward for a new start and we were set for archiving 

satisfactory results in 2020, the COVID-19 epidemic had put a halt to the world.

Amid the unexpected epidemic outbreaks, the entire nation stayed together to fight the epidemic, making China 

the first country in the world to recover from the COVID-19 epidemic. China’s gross domestic product (GDP) and 

retail sales of consumer goods have resumed positive growth since the second half of 2020, and are still growing to 

date. With the continuous increase of people’s disposable income and the improvement of Chinese people’s health 

awareness after the epidemic, we remain optimistic about the prospects of China’s healthy food industry.

2020 was a difficult year, but also a year of unity and a year that brought along far-reaching impact. The entire 

business environment and the consumer goods market experienced rapid changes. The foot traffic to brick-and-

mortar stores declined sharply, marking it a hard time for offline shop. However, online consumption, due to its 

convenience, has developed rapidly, and the new retail format has shown rapid growth.

In this challenging year, we put meticulous efforts in business development, reacted swiftly to the environment, 

and moved forward steadily, and had achieved rapid development in our online business, while our offline business 

continued to recover. Besides, we have further enhanced our brand awareness and reputation.

Continuous upgrade of e-commerce channel operation strategy to boost high growth

Leveraging our strong operational capabilities and strong brand power, we have successfully maintained our No. 

1 position in natural grain powder category on Tmall for five consecutive years. Benefiting from this, the Company 

is able to maintain long-term, good and close cooperation with e-commerce platforms and is allocated with high-

quality promotion resources by those platforms. We also implemented distinctive sales strategies in line with different 

Chinese festivals and platform events, and achieved outstanding performance in major sales festivals such as “618” 

and “Singles’ Day”.

In addition, we have sensed the uprising of live-streaming e-commerce and have deployed resources to actively 

participate in early stages, so that we can timely seize the hot trend of live-streaming e-commerce and cooperate 

frequently with leading hosts of the platform and celebrities, which greatly increased the exposure of our brand and 

products.

In order to better attract consumers to our e-commerce channels, we have also launched a wide and diversified 

range of activities on social media to attract consumers with high-quality content.
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In order to bring consumers better consumption experience, we have gradually upgraded our products to make them 

more convenient and portable. In June 2020, we further launched the high-end fruit oatmeal brand “Eat a Rainbow

（吃個彩虹）”, which is additive-free, healthy and no heating is needed, to enrich our product mix for consumers. We 

also gradually upgraded the packaging of products and e-commerce shops with an aim to improve our services and 

to bring better experience to our consumers throughout the consumption process.

In this regard, while we have maintained our No. 1 position in natural grain powder category on Tmall for five 

consecutive years, we have launched “Walnut Sesame Black Bean Powder”, which has successfully become the 

No.1 hot sale item in natural grain powder category. We have sold 600,000 cans during the Singles’ Day and was 

listed on Tmall’s Singles’ Day Super Product Board. Despite the fact that it has only launched for only six months, 

our high-end fruit oatmeal brand “Eat a Rainbow（吃個彩虹）” ranked fifth in instant oatmeal category on Tmall with 

its excellent product power and marketing effort, and was the youngest brand on the list. The reasonable mix and 

high nutrition of the product has made it won the Best Nutrition Oatmeal Award jointly issued by CBNDATA and Tmall 

Food.

Continuous recovery of offline concessionaire business through various measures

In the face of the impact of COVID-19 on offline business operations, we actively responded by “Acquiring New 

Customers” and “Encouraging Repeat Purchase”, with an aim to resume the operation of our offline concessionary 

counters.

In terms of “Acquiring New Customers”, in addition to product upgrades by introducing hot and cold preparation 

options to make our product more convenient and bring our consumers with better product experience, we have also 

introduced hot sale products on e-commerce platform to our offline concessionary counters, thereby enriching our 

product mix for consumers.

In terms of “Encouraging Repeat Purchase”, we continued to explore the big data of our members and classified our 

members into more specified group with loyal users as the core for better management, so that we can increase the 

repeat purchase rate of customer while expanding our target customer base.

STRENGTHEN OUR BRAND IMAGE

As the most renowned brand of natural health food in the PRC, “Natural Food” has already established a trustworthy 

and satisfactory brand image among consumers. In 2020, we successfully turned “Natural Food”, our classic brand, 

into a young and fashionable brand through intensive and meticulous implementation of contents on social media 

platforms to magnify the texture and stylishness of our brands and products, and through extensive and attractive 

scenario education to increase the consumption frequency of our products. Take Xiaohongshu（小紅書）as an 

example, the brand ranking of “Natural Food” on such platform jumped sharply by more than 2,000 places. Our major 

products, namely Y10 nutrition cereal breakfast powder and walnut black bean sesame powder, have increased by 

300% and 200% respectively in terms of willingness of actively searching by users.
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As a new high-end fruit oatmeal brand, it is crucial for “Eat a Rainbow（吃個彩虹）” to draw consumers’ attention by 

receiving feedback quickly and gaining popularity on the Internet shortly. In this regard, we engaged popular celebrity 

stars to endorse our products and coupled with promotion on Weibo（微博）, and as a result our brand awareness 

has been greatly enhanced. The product endorsement has triggered relevant topics and such topics have recorded 

880 million hits and over 8 million discussions on Weibo（微博）, as such, the brand awareness of “Eat a Rainbow（吃
個彩虹）” increased by over 900%. In addition, we carried out promotion and marketing activities in various forms and 

contents on Douyin（抖音）and the accumulated brand exposure has reached 99 million times.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

2021 marks the fifteenth anniversary of “Natural Food”. We have achieved a lot of changes in our development 

while upholding our mission of “producing healthy food that is safe to be consumed by elder parents and young 

children”. We embrace challenges along our way and strive for betterment. We will always persist and insist on our 

commitment, and tackle the challenges actively. Looking ahead, we will continue to focus on the strategy of natural, 

healthy and additive-free cereal nutrition food and continue to expand our e-commerce business vigorously while 

developing our offline counters, so as to expand diversified sales channels.

APPRECIATION

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, I would like to extend our deepest gratitude to our Shareholders, investors 

and business partners for their continuous trust and support. I would like to also express my sincere gratitude to our 

Directors, management and staff for their valuable contribution during the year.

GUI Changqing

Chairman

30 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

　
　

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic at the beginning of 2020 caused serious disruptions to production and 

consumption, bringing severe challenges to various industries. As affected by the pandemic and in the face of 

adverse factors including disruptions to the operation of offline counters and business expansion, the Company 

endeavoured to accelerate the development of online business to mitigate the impact of the pandemic. The impact 

of COVID-19 remained though the domestic economy continued to recover steadily as China achieved remarkable 

achievements in the prevention and control of the pandemic. Meanwhile, the ongoing spread of COVID-19 across the 

world further delayed the global economic recovery. As domestic consumption demand is still in the recovery stage, 

the offline business is still disrupted and has not yet recovered to pre-pandemic levels.

In the context of challenges of the objective environment, the main business focus of the Group in 2020 was to 

actively promote the recovery of offline counters and continue to put great efforts in developing our online business. 

At the same time we, improved our capacities and formulated medium- to long-term development strategies for the 

future. Also, we continued to streamline our organizational structure and sharpen our competitive edges, so as to 

provide strong internal assurance for our future development.

In view of the above, the operating results of the Group in the second half of 2020 significantly improved as compared 

with the first half of 2020. The growth rate of revenue recorded a substantial decrease of 29.1% from a year-on-year 

decrease of 33.5% for the first half of 2020 to a year-on-year decrease of 4.4% for the second half of 2020. Our net 

profit for the second half of 2020 recorded a turnaround from loss to profit of RMB37.9 million as compared with 

the first half of 2020. As of 31 December 2020, the Group recorded revenue of RMB1,438.5 million, representing a 

year-on-year decrease of 19.4%, while our net loss was RMB14.5 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 

111.4%.

Products

In 2020, by focusing on its product strategy, the Group adhered to “consolidating the advantageous position of cereal 

nutrition powder as core category while actively expanding new categories”. While committed to our core values 

of being natural, healthy and additive-free, we continued to upgrade our products, so as to fulfill the demands of 

consumers for the healthiness, convenience and leisure of products. With respect to product sales, based on the 

characteristics of consumers of different sales channels, the Group responsively launched various products with 

cereal nutrition powder and high-end cold-brewing fruit oatmeal as the core categories in different channels.
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Cereal Nutrition Powder

The cereal nutrition powder is the core category of the Group which is widely recognized by consumers and the 

industry. By drawing upon such product category, “Wugu Mofang（五谷磨房）” maintained its leading brand position 

in the industry for many years. In 2020, we carried out product upgrades as well as research and development of new 

product offerings with a focus on diet experience and convenience of cereal nutrition powder. During 2020, the Group 

gradually upgraded the ingredients of various types of cereal nutrition powder, allowing it to be brewed with cold or 

hot water/beverages and solving the inconvenience of using hot water/beverages to brew the previous products, 

while maintaining the rich textures and good tastes of our products. In addition, the Group launched a brand new 

product named Y10 Prebiotic High-Protein Prepared Cereal Powder (Y10益生元高蛋白沖調穀物粉）(“Y10”) which 

features balanced nutrition, high-fibre and high-protein with a rich taste. It caters to the needs of being brewed in cold 

or hot manner, which enhances the diet convenience of the product and provides better consumption experience 

to consumers. The Group also launched Y10 Portable “Y10 Xiaogu Cup (Y10小谷杯）” to provide consumers with 

a more convenient user experience and expand the product consumption scenarios. Once launched, such product 

have been widely welcomed and favoured by consumers.

Targeting at customers’ preference for specific ingredients, the Group also aggressively promoted our walnut sesame 

black bean powder, a star product of the Group, which achieved an excellent performance in 2020. It has been 

elected into various honor lists, such as “Tmall Million Item（天貓百萬單品）”, “Tmall Global Food Award of Singles’ 

Day（天貓雙11全球食品巔峰榜）”, “Tmall Best-Selling Food of Singles’ Day（天貓雙11食品年度爆款）” and “Tmall 

Recommended Super Product of Singles’ Day（天貓推薦雙11超級單品）” for multiple occasions, and has become 

the top best-selling product in the category of natural grain powder on Taobao.

Looking ahead to 2021, the Group will continue to expand its consumer base of cereal nutrition powder and focus on 

providing professional cereal nutrition food to consumers while introducing new product offerings and better product 

experience, to diversify our product lines.

High-end Cold-brewing Fruit Oatmeal

Chinese oatmeal market enjoys a huge potential with rapid development trend in recent years, especially the growth 

of products represented by cold-brewing oatmeal is especially remarkable. Currently, as the landscape of oatmeal 

market is hardly concentrated, the Group has capitalised on the opportunities to fully penetrate into the market with 

our high-end brand “Eat a Rainbow（吃個彩虹）” in June 2020 after our years’ product refinement and continuous 

optimization of sales strategies. Leveraging on the Group’s years of experience and quality in building oatmeal 

nutrition products, we have launched six products with different styles in a progressive and planned manner. By 

drawing upon our excellent quality, rich nutrition and diversified tastes as well as by our marketing strategies which 

are in line with consumers’ sentiment of pursuing fashion trends and health, our products has gained overwhelming 

popularity. The sales volume reached 1.6 million bags within merely half a year, and it ranked the fifth in the “instant 

oatmeal category on Tmall（天貓沖飲麥片品類）” during the period of Singles’ Day, which was the youngest brand 

among the top six brands in the list.

Looking forward to 2021, the Group will continue to expand the sales channels of high-end cold-brewing fruit oatmeal 

to capture a wider consumer base while introducing new product types and better product experience, to enrich our 

product lines.
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Other Categories

The Group also provides other healthy grain nutrition food to consumers based on characteristics of different sales 

channels, including healthy snacks, meal replacements and grain tea beverages, so as to attract a broader consumer 

base and penetrate into more extensive consumption scenarios. The Group pays close attention to the industry 

development trend to judge future development opportunities, aiming at continuing to develop new categories in 

planned and progressive manner, thereby capitalising on the opportunities for future growth.

Sales Channels

In 2020, in response to the changing operating environment due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, as 

regards our channelling strategies, the Group focused on vigorously promoting the recovery of offline counters and 

continued to pour efforts in developing our online business. For the twelve months ended 31 December 2020, 

revenue from offline counters accounted for 66.5% (corresponding period in 2019: 76.4%), while revenue from online 

channels accounted for 33.5% (corresponding period of 2019: 23.6%).

Offline counters

Since the establishment of the Group, we have been selling through on-site milling of cereal nutrition powder by 

opening counters in a chain of large supermarkets. Over the years, offline counters have become one of the important 

sales channels of the Group while helping the brand to improve their popularity among consumers, thereby becoming 

an important window of face-to-face communication between the Group and consumers.

However, the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 caused severe challenges to offline channels business. 

Although the operating results of the Group had been gradually improving during the four quarters in 2020, the 

road to overall recovery was not smooth, and sales and consumer traffic as of the end of 2020 were still below pre-

pandemic levels. At the same time, the Group regarded efficiency as priority and responded actively. We proactively 

closed counters with lower efficiency and successively opened high-quality counters with potentials continuously, 

and improved the operating efficiency of retained high-quality counters through management measures. As of 

31 December 2020, the Group had 3,171 concessionary counters nationwide and recorded sales revenue of 

RMB957.1 million (corresponding period of 2019: RMB1,362.5 million).
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For the year ended 31 December

2020 2019

At the beginning of the year 3,399 3,895

Add: newly opened counters 341 462

Less: closed counters 569 958

Total concessionary counters 3,171 3,399

Currently, offline trading business is evolving and hypermarkets also face increased competition. The Group is also 

required to respond promptly. Looking ahead, the Group will improve the operating efficiency of its concessionary 

counters by continuously opening high-quality counters with potentials, and it will enhance the consumption 

experience of consumers at our counters by our professional and dedicated services and build their long-term 

satisfaction to our brands, so as to bring into full play the huge value of offline counters as the Group’s brand 

windows.

E-commerce Channels

The e-commerce channels of the Group has maintained a positive growth momentum over the recent years, and 

the Group manages to maintain good relationship with various e-commerce platforms with its excellent operating 

capability. The outbreak of COVID-19 in 2020 has led to a notable shift of the consumption habits of consumers 

to online channels. While flexibly leveraging the operating advantages of the Group’s in e-commerce channels, the 

Group also expanded its promotion channels on a rational basis and successfully seized the opportunities from the 

increase in demands for e-commerce consumption. In 2020, the Group continued to formulate specific marketing 

plans for different festivals and promotional events, and recorded remarkable performance during key promotion 

periods such as “Foodaholic Festival（吃貨節）”, “Snack Festival（零食節）”, “618” and “Singles’ Day（雙十一）”. 
Although the e-commerce channels of the Group recorded stable performance due to the interruptions to work and 

production caused by the pandemic during the first quarter of 2020, thanks to our continuous efforts from the second 

quarter to the fourth quarter, we managed to achieve considerable growth. Notably, during “618” and “Singles’ 

Day（雙十一）”, the Company was ranked TOP1 brand for Alibaba’s Singles’ Day promotion among natural grain 

powder products for four consecutive years. Our high-end fruit oatmeal brand “Eat a Rainbow（吃個彩虹）”, though 

launched for less than six months, outperformed the category of brewed oatmeal and ranked TOP5 in the category of 

brewed oatmeal for its excellent product quality and effective brand promotion efforts. As of 31 December 2020, our 

e-commerce channels recorded revenue of RMB481.4 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 14.2%.



11Annual Report 2020

Management Discussion and Analysis
 

BRAND BUILDING

The Group attaches great importance to our brand building and communicates with consumers through our multi-

brand strategy. In terms of the ways of brand building, the Group carries out comprehensive content marketing mainly 

through social media platforms including WeChat, Xiaohongshu（小紅書）, Douyin（抖音）and Weibo（微博）.

“Wugu Mofang（五谷磨房）”

The cereal nutrition powder, the core category of the Group, is mainly offered under our brand “Wugu Mofang（五
谷磨房）”. In 2020, for the purpose of establishing a professional, reliable, young and fashionable brand image of 

healthy food, the Group cooperated with Dingxiang Doctors（丁香醫生）, a renowned platform of healthcare contents 

and healthcare services in China, so as to offer professional endorsement for our cereal nutrition powder in terms of 

brand exposure and content distribution. In addition, the Group also cooperated with the Forbidden City, a Chinese 

renowned IP, and many popular bloggers to spread useful information on social media platforms, including health, 

wellness and exercise and fitness, with an aim to strengthen customers’ recognition of Wugu Mofang（五谷磨房）and 

our cereal nutrition powder.

“Eat a Rainbow（吃個彩虹）”

The Group’s high-end cold-brewing fruit oatmeal is mainly offered under our brand “Eat a Rainbow（吃個彩虹）”. In 

2020, in order to promptly attract the attention of consumers and grasp the opportunity from the rapid growth of 

oatmeal industry by cultivation of new brands, the Group appointed Miss Dilraba, a renowned actress, as the brand 

ambassador of “Eat a Rainbow（吃個彩虹）”, so as to build a healthy, energetic and fashionable brand image. This 

news, once announced, has attracted widespread attention from consumers and the industry. The Group announced 

the endorsement on 3 June 2020. The relevant content had been exposed more than 330 million times on Weibo 

platform within 24 hours, and related super topic “Dilraba for Eat a Rainbow（迪麗熱巴吃個彩虹）” ranked among the 

top 3 topic discussions on Weibo with 880 million hits, over 8 million discussions and 51,000 original contents.

WeChat Platform

The Group also fully leveraged WeChat platforms, including WeChat Official Account, WeChat Member Mall and 

WeChat Enterprise Account, to manage consumers, in order to enhance consumers’ recognition and stickiness of 

our brands through continuous ingestion of contents. As at 31 December 2020, the revenue from WeChat Member 

Mall amounted to RMB67.9 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 31.8%.



12 Natural Food International Holding Limited

Management Discussion and Analysis
 

FUTURE PROSPECTS

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic caused severe challenges to the economic and social development. With the 

continuing progression of the pandemic prevention and control in China and the continuous promotion of economic 

and social development, the market expectations were positive, and China became the only major economy to 

achieve positive economic growth around the globe. Looking ahead to 2021, despite the ongoing recovery of 

macroeconomic indicators, the effects of the pandemic will remain. In particular, the commencement of offline trading 

and department store operation was disrupted and consumer traffic has not yet returned to the level before the 

outbreak of the pandemic. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic fueled the reformation of the entire consumption 

industry, including the food and beverage sector as well as the retail sector. In terms of channels, retailers raced 

to increase their investments in online businesses and O2O businesses one after another, so as to cope with the 

changing consumption habits of consumers. In terms of products, there are increasingly more sub-categories being 

penetrated, thus a large number of potential products will be launched. Against such background, the Group has 

contemplated its own current advantages, the existing challenges and the breakthroughs it should seek for. In view 

of this, the Group has formulated its medium- and long-term development strategy of “consolidate main business, 

expand channels and increase categories” to resolutely continue to consolidate the cereal nutrition powder as our 

core advantageous category and regard offline concessionary counters as our fundamental development focus 

while acutely seizing and actively expanding new channels and opportunities of new categories, so as to provide 

continuous impetus for the long-term development of the Company.

Production Capacity

In view of the increasing demand for natural health food in China, the Group commenced the construction of a new 

manufacturing base in Nansha District, Guangzhou, China in March 2018. The new production base has a gross 

floor area of 60,000 sq.m. Upon completion and full operation of the new manufacturing base, it is expected that the 

maximum production capacity of the Group will be increased to 40,000 tonnes per annum.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group sells its products through an extensive network of offline concessionary counters as well as online 

channels, including major e-commerce platforms and self-operated WeChat member stores. The following table sets 

out details of the Group’s revenue by sales channel, each expressed in the absolute amount and as a percentage to 

its total revenue, for the years indicated:

For the year ended 31 December

2020 2019

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

Offline channels 957,129 66.5 1,362,482 76.4

Online channels 481,418 33.5 421,604 23.6

E-commerce platforms 413,487 28.8 321,987 18.0

WeChat member stores 67,931 4.7 99,617 5.6

Total 1,438,547 100.0 1,784,086 100.0

For the year ended 31 December 2020, absolute amounts of revenue generated from sales through its offline and 

online channels decreased as compared to those for the year ended 31 December 2019, which was attributable to 

the decrease in the revenue generated from offline channels, partly mitigated by the increase in the revenue generated 

from online channels. Due to the government guidance on the prevention and control of Covid-19 pandemic, 

residents in China were required to follow the social-distancing policy and self-quarantine policy, resulting in reduced 

sales through the offline channels. Revenue generated from sales through online channels increased, which was 

primarily due to the increased demands for online shopping delivery during the year. As a percentage to the total 

revenue, revenues generated from sales through the offline channels decreased from 76.4% in 2019 to 66.5% in 

2020, while revenue generated from sales through the online channels increased from 23.6% in 2019 to 33.5% in 

2020.
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Cost of Sales, Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Cost of sales decreased by approximately 7.1% from RMB464.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 

to RMB432 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, which was mainly attributable to (i) a decrease in sales 

volume and production volume that led to decrease in raw material cost, packing and other material cost, direct labor 

cost and manufacturing cost, (ii) an increase in the changes in the inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress. 

Gross profit for the Group decreased from approximately RMB1,319.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 

to approximately RMB1,006.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The gross profit margin decreased from 

73.9% for the year ended 31 December 2019 to 70% for the year ended 31 December 2020. It was due to (i) the 

increase in discounts offered by the Group to its customers, and (ii) the increase in percentage of revenue from the 

online channels, and the gross profit margin of exclusive products sold at the online channel is lower.

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains of the Group decreased by RMB12.9 million from approximately RMB22.9 million for the 

year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB9.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, which was 

mainly attributable to (i) a decrease in government grants, (ii) a decrease in agency commission income as a result of 

the decreased revenue generated from Group’s WeChat member store for selling third-party brand products during 

the year, (iii) a decrease in interest income of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, because of 

the decrease in average balance of the financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss held by the Group 

during the year and (iv) a decrease in bank interest income.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of commission expense, labour service expense of 

salesmen, salary and employee benefit expenses, sales promotion expenses, transportation expenses and others. 

The selling and distribution expenses decreased from approximately RMB1,092.4 million for the year ended 31 

December 2019 to approximately RMB967.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, which was mainly 

attributable to (i) a decrease in the commission expenses as a result of the decrease in revenue during the year, (ii) a 

decrease in labour service expense of salesman, which was because of the decrease in the number of concessionary 

counter and sales personnel, but partly offset by (iii) an increase in the advertisement expenses due to the Group’s 

increase in its efforts in advertising and promotion.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses primarily comprise salary and employee benefit expenses, other taxes and fees, 

office expenses, travel and communication expenses, depreciation and amortisation and others. The administrative 

expenses decreased from approximately RMB102.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately 

RMB81 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The decrease was mainly due to (i) a decrease in salary and 

employee benefit expenses as a result of the decrease in the number of the administrative staff, and (ii) a decrease in 

other taxes and fees, which are caused by the decrease in the revenue for the year.
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Impairment Losses on Financial Assets

Impairment loss on financial assets increased to approximately RMB9.6 million for the year ended 31 December 

2020 from approximately RMB4.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, which was mainly attributable to an 

increase in overdue trade receivables and other receivables balances.

Other Expenses

Other expenses of the Group increased to approximately RMB10.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 

from approximately RMB1.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 primarily due to an increase in the loss on 

disposal of property, plant and equipment.

Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s finance costs increased from approximately RMB0.8 million for 

the year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB1 million primarily due to (i) an increase in the interest on 

lease liabilities because the Company moved to the new office and the new lease agreement was effective from 14 

June 2019, and interest on lease liabilities accrued for around 6 months for the year ended 31 December 2019, while 

the interest on lease liabilities accrued for 12 months for the year ended 31 December 2020, but partly offset by (ii) a 

decrease in interest on a borrowing from a financial institution, which was due to a decrease in the average balance of 

the interest-bearing borrowings held by the Group.

(Loss)/Profit before Tax

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded a profit before tax of approximately RMB140.1 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2019, while a loss before tax of approximately RMB53.1 million for the year ended 31 December 

2020.

Income Tax Credit/(Expense)

The Group’s income tax expense was RMB13.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, while the income tax 

credit was RMB38.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, which was mainly due to (i) a decrease in current 

income tax expense, which was caused by the decrease in the assessable profit for the year, (ii) an increase in the 

deferred tax income as a result of the losses incurred by some subsidiaries of the Group during the year. The Group’s 

effective tax rates for both years were different from the PRC statutory income tax rate of 25%. This difference is 

attributable to China’s enterprise income tax exemption for income from preliminarily-processed agricultural products, 

and such waiver is applicable to the Group’s certain products.

(Loss)/Profit for the Year

The Group recorded a profit of approximately RMB126.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, while a loss 

of approximately RMB14.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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FINANCIAL RESOURCES REVIEW

Working Capital and Financial Resources

As at 

31 December 

2020

As at 

31 December 

2019

(RMB million) (RMB million)

Trade and bills receivables 161.9 225.6

Trade payables 52.6 63.3

Inventories 92 114

Trade receivables turnover days(1) 49 48

Trade payables turnover days(2) 52 53

Inventory turnover days(3) 87 93

Notes:

(1) Trade receivables turnover days = 365 days x (average balance of trade and bills receivables at the beginning and at the end 
of the relevant period)/revenue in the reporting period.

(2) Trade payables turnover days = 365 days x (average balance of the trade payables at the beginning and at the end of the 
relevant period)/cost of sales in the reporting period.

(3) Inventory turnover days = 365 days x (average balance of inventory at the beginning and at the end of the relevant period)/
cost of sales in the reporting period.

The decrease of trade and bills receivables was primarily attributable to a decrease in the sales of products. The trade 

receivables turnover days remained stable.

The decrease of trade payables was primarily attributable to a decrease in the purchase of raw materials and 

packaging materials used for the production, which was caused by the declined sales for the year. The trade 

payables turnover days remained stable.

The decrease of inventories was mainly attributable to clearance of unsold inventories, and a decrease in raw 

materials and finished goods was in line with the declined sales during the year. The decrease in inventory turnover 

days is primarily attributable to the implementation of the rigid inventory control measures.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB564.2 million, representing an 

increase of approximately 1.1% from RMB558 million as at 31 December 2019.

The Group’s primary uses of cash were payment for suppliers and funding of working capital, daily operating 

expenses and construction of the new manufacturing facility in Nansha County, Guangzhou, purchase of financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss. The Group financed its liquidity requirements through cash flows generated 

from its operating activities.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no interest-bearing borrowings (31 December 2019: nil).

Net cash flows from operating activities were RMB86.9 million in 2020, as compared with net cash flows from 

operating activities of RMB171.6 million in 2019. Net cash used in investing activities were RMB62.4 million in 2020, 

as compared with net cash flows used in investing activities of RMB19.3 million in 2019. Net cash flows used in 

financing activities were RMB7.7 million in 2020, as compared with net cash used in financing activities of RMB204.6 

million in 2019.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had net current asset of RMB665.5 million, as compared with net current asset 

of RMB730 million as at 31 December 2019.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had contracted but not provided for capital commitments of approximately 

RMB23.1 million, which were primarily related to the purchase of property, plant and equipment to be used for the 

construction of new manufacturing facility in Nansha County Guangzhou, as compared with the total amount of 

capital expenditures contracted for but not yet incurred of RMB36.6 million as at 31 December 2019.

Currency Exposure and Management

The Group operates its business in China and conducts domestic business in RMB. Substantially all of the Group’s 

assets are denominated in RMB, and the Group mainly incurs cost in HK$ and RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign 

exchange risk with respect mainly to HK$ which may affect the Group’s performance. The management is aware of 

the possible exchange rate exposure due to the continuing fluctuation of the exchange rate between HK$ and RMB 

and will closely monitor its impact on the performance of the Group to see if any hedging policy is necessary. The 

Group currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policy.
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Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no contingent liabilities.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not pledge any assets.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s gearing ratio (calculated by dividing total debt (including lease liabilities) by 

total assets as of the end of each year) was approximately 1.4% (31 December 2019: 1.6%).

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 739 employees, as compared with 838 employees as at 31 December 

2019. For the year ended 31 December 2020, costs of employees, excluding Directors’ emoluments, amounted to 

a total of RMB168.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately 16.4% from RMB201.5 million in 2019. The 

Group will regularly review its remuneration policy and the benefits granted to its employees with reference to market 

practice and the performance of individual employees.

The Group’s emolument policies of the employees are formulated by the Board with reference to their respective 

qualification and experience, responsibilities undertaken, contribution to the Group, and the prevailing market level 

of remuneration for executives of similar position. The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board and 

the remuneration committee of the Company, who are authorised by the shareholders of the Company at the annual 

general meeting, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market 

statistics.

The Group has also adopted a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives to Directors, eligible 

employees and third party service providers. Further details in relation to the scheme will be set out in the “Directors’ 

Report” section of the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Directors and Senior Management

　
　

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. GUI Changqing（桂常青）, aged 48, is the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director of the Company. 

Ms. Gui was appointed as a Director on 30 November 2009. She also serves as a director and/or the general 

manager of each of the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group, Natural Food HK, Natural Food Online Limited（天然
食品線上有限公司）, Shenzhen Fuya and Guangzhou Natural Food. She is responsible for formulating and overseeing 

the overall development strategies and business plans of the Group and has continued to provide guidance on the 

range and variety of products offered by the Group since its establishment. She graduated from Hubei Institute of 

Industry（湖北工學院, now known as Hubei University of Technology（湖北工業大學））with a bachelor’s degree 

in industrial design in June 1995. She further completed her studies in master of business administration at the 

Research Institute of Tsinghua University in Shenzhen（深圳清華大學研究院）in December 2015. She is the wife of 

Mr. ZHANG Zejun, the Founder, the Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director of the Company.

Mr. ZHANG Zejun（張澤軍）, aged 47, is the Founder, a Controlling Shareholder, the Chief Executive Officer of the 

Group and an executive Director of the Company. He was appointed as a Director on 29 January 2010. Mr. Zhang is 

also the general manager of each of the major wholly-owned operating subsidiaries of the Group, namely Shenzhen 

Changqing Food Tech Co., Ltd.（深圳常青食品科技有限公司）and Shenzhen Natural Food Co., Ltd.（深圳天然食品
貿易有限公司）, and a supervisor of another wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, Shenzhen Xiangya. He has over 

10 years of experiences in the natural health food industry. Mr. Zhang founded the business in 2007 and has been 

the key driver of the business strategies and achievements to date. He is primarily responsible for implementing and 

overseeing the overall business development, management and operations of the Group. He completed his studies 

in master of business administration at the Research Institute of Tsinghua University in Shenzhen（深圳清華大學研
究院）in December 2015. He is the husband of Ms. GUI Changqing, the Chairman and an executive Director of our 

Company.

Non-executive Director

Ms. Tse Cheung On Anne（謝長安）, aged 44, currently acts as SVP and General Manager of Foods in the Greater 

China Region of PepsiCo., Inc. (the “PepsiCo”), a company listed on the NASDAQ (stock code: PEP) since October 

2016. She joined PepsiCo in October 2010 and successively served as Senior Director of Strategy in the Greater 

China Region, General Manager of New Business in the Greater China Region and VP of e-Commerce in the Greater 

China and Asia, Middle East and North Africa. She was Outside Director of Calbee, Inc., a company listed on the 

Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock code: 2229), from June 2019 to July 2020. Prior to joining PepsiCo, she served as 

CEO of Mannings China from March 2008 to March 2010, and Associate Principal at McKinsey & Company from 

1998 to 2008 respectively. She obtained her Bachelor of Business Administration degree in Finance from the Chinese 

University of Hong Kong in June 1998, and her Master of Business Administration degree in Finance and Marketing 

from Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University in the United States in June 2003.
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Mr. Wang Duo（王鐸）, aged 41, is the founding partner of Mangrove Capital, a fund headquartered in the PRC 

which focuses on the growth stage investment in leading companies in cloud computing, big data, enterprise 

services, financial technology, and internet information. Prior to founding Mangrove Capital in 2016, he was a partner 

of SAIF Partners, a technology, media and telecommunications venture capital fund, from 2006 to 2016, and a 

senior investment manager at ZTE Corporation, a telecom equipment and solutions provider, from 2004 to 2006. He 

has been a chartered financial analyst since 2005 and he is one of the founding members of CFA Society Beijing, 

a member of the CFA Institute global network of societies. He was also named as a Top 40 under 40 investor in 

2014 by Cyzone, a venture capital media in the PRC. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in commerce and information 

systems from the University of Melbourne in Australia in 2001. He was a non-executive director of Ozner Water 

International Holding Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2014), from September 2017 to 

May 2020.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Senquan（張森泉）, formerly known as Zhang Min（張敏）, aged 44, was appointed as the independent 

non-executive Director on 19 November 2018 and is responsible for supervising and providing independent advice 

and judgment to the Board. He obtained his bachelor’s degree in economics from Fudan University in July 1999. He 

is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, China Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and has more than 10 years of experience in accounting 

and auditing. Mr. Zhang Senquan worked at Ernst & Young, KPMG and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu serving several 

positions from audit staff to audit partner from October 1999 to October 2012. Mr. Zhang currently is an independent 

non-executive director of Jiande International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock 

code: 865); an independent non-executive director of Beijing Digital Telecom Co., Ltd., a company listed on the 

Stock Exchange (stock code: 6188); an independent director of Jiangsu Aidea Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.（江蘇艾
迪藥業股份有限公司）, a company listed on Sci-Tech innovation board of Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 

688488); an independent non-executive director of Sang Hing Holdings (International) Ltd., a company listed on 

the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1472); and an independent non-executive director of Straw bear Entertainment 

Group, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2125). Currently, Mr. Zhang is also the chief executive 

officer of Zhong Rui Capital (Hong Kong) Limited, a consultancy company. Mr. Zhang was the head of the Strategic 

Development Department of Goodbaby International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange 

(stock code: 1086), from March 2013 to April 2014; the chief financial officer and joint company secretary of 

Huazhong In-Vehicle Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6830), from 

May 2014 to July 2015; an independent director of Topchoice Medical Investment Co. Inc.; a company listed on 

the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600763), from December 2014 to March 2017; an independent non-

executive director of Casablanca Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2223), from 

April 2015 to April 2018; the managing director of Southwest Securities International Securities Limited, a company 

listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 812), from February 2016 to March 2020; and an independent non-

executive director of Bonny International Holding Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 

1906), from March 2019 to June 2020.
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Mr. HU Peng（胡芃）, aged 45, was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 19 November 2018, 

and is responsible for supervising and providing independent advice and judgment to the Board. He served as the 

head of equity capital markets, a managing Director and a management committee member of Huatai Financial 

Holdings (Hong Kong) Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Huatai Securities Co., Ltd. from October 2015 to June 

2019, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6886) (“Huatai”). Prior to joining Huatai in 

October 2015, he worked in the investment banking division of UBS AG from July 2010 to September 2015 and 

in Citigroup Global Market Asia Limited from February 2007 to July 2010. Before his career in Citigroup, he was 

primarily engaged in theoretical and empirical research in the areas of credit risk, close-end fund, Chinese capital 

markets and restructuring of state-owned enterprise, with extensive experience in both strategic analysis and 

marketing consulting. He was approved as a responsible officer under the SFO and was licensed to conduct Type 

1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) of the regulated 

activities as defined under the SFO during the period working at Huatai, Investment Banking Division of UBS AG and 

Citigroup Global Market Asia Limited. He obtained each his Master of Science degree in Operations Research and 

Management Science, Master in Research in Business Studies and PhD degree from the University of Edinburgh in 

the United Kingdom in December 1998, July 2000 and June 2008, respectively.

Mr. OUYANG Liangyi（歐陽良宜）, aged 43, was appointed as the independent non-executive Director on 19 

November 2018, and is responsible for supervising and providing independent advice and judgment to the Board. 

He currently serves as an Associate Professor of Finance at Peking University HSBC Business School since August 

2013 and has become the Associate Dean in March 2013 and subsequently the Deputy Dean in November 2017. He 

was a lecturer and an Associate Professor of the School of Economics at Peking University from September 2004 to 

August 2009 and from then till July 2013, respectively, with a focus on private equity and derivatives. He obtained his 

bachelor’s degree in economics from Peking University in July 1999 and PhD in Finance from The University of Hong 

Kong in December 2005. He has been a Chartered Financial Analyst since 2006.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. PENG Dubiao（彭督彪）, aged 47, is a General Manager of Offline Sales of the Group. He joined the Group 

in September 2011 and is responsible for formulating and implementing offline sales strategies and channel 

management and management of the sales team. He also serves as the general manager of the wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Group, Shenzhen Xiangya. Mr. Peng has 20 years of experience in the food and beverage industry. 

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Peng worked at a number of private food and beverage companies in China, including 

Po-Li Food Industry (Kunshan) Co., Ltd.（波力食品工業（昆山）有限公司）, Shanghai Zhenghe Food Co., Ltd.（上
海正禾食品有限公司）and Fujian Fuma Food Group Co. Ltd.（褔建福馬咪咪食品集團有限公司）from May 1998 

to August 2011, where he primarily worked in and/or headed the sales and marketing department of these food 

companies. He obtained his online bachelor’s degree in international trade from the University of International 

Business and Economics（對外經貿大學）in January 2010 in the PRC. He further completed his studies in master 

of business administration at the Research Institute of Tsinghua University in Shenzhen（深圳清華大學研究院）in 

December 2015.
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Mr. CHEN Guanghua（陳光華）, aged 46, is a Strategy Consultant of Digital Marketing and Online Sales of the 

Group. He joined the Group in July 2015 and is responsible for providing and implementing digital marketing 

strategies and management of online channels and members relationship strategy. He also serves as the general 

manager of the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, Shenzhen Fuya. He has 20 years of working experience in in 

the field of information technology. He worked with Biostime from March 2008 to June 2015, where he last held the 

position of Chief Operating Officer in charge of the Mama100 Membership Center of Biostime. From January 1999 

to February 2008, he was employed by Guangzhou Tianjian Computer System Engineering Co., Ltd.（廣州天劍計
算機系統工程有限公司）and assumed positions including software engineer, CRM department manager and deputy 

general manager, respectively. Prior to that, he worked with Guangdong Fotao Group Co., Ltd.（廣東佛陶集團股份
有限公司）from July 1997 to January 1999. Mr. Chen won the “Science and Technology Award of Foshan”（佛山市科
學技術進步獎）awarded by Foshan Municipal Government in June 2006 and the “Science and Technology Award of 

Guangzhou”（廣州市科學技術獎）awarded by Guangzhou Municipal Government in October 2006. In July 1997, He 

graduated from Tongji University（同濟大學）and obtained a bachelor’s degree in silicate science and engineering. In 

December 2004, he obtained a master’s degree in computer technology from South China University of Technology

（華南理工大學）. In September 2013, He completed his EMBA at China Europe International Business School（中歐
國際工商學院）and received an EMBA degree. He is a qualified computer applications software engineer accredited 

by Guangzhou Municipal Human Resources Bureau in China.

Mr. XIONG Xinsheng（熊鑫升）, aged 58, is a General Manager of Finance of the Group. He joined the Group in 

August 2015 and is responsible for financial planning, accounting and audit, financial and treasury management and 

internal controls. Prior to joining the Group, He served as a civil servant in the taxation bureau of Xianfeng and Enshi, 

Hubei Province, PRC from September 1989 to August 2015. He completed his studies in business management 

from Hubei Radio & TV University（湖北廣播電視大學）in July 1989. He also completed his remote undergraduate 

education in laws at the Party School of the Central Committee of CPC（中共中央黨校）in December 2001. He 

completed his master’s studies in business administration at the Research Institute of Tsinghua University in Shenzhen

（深圳清華大學研究院）in December 2015.

Ms. LIU Wenying（劉文英）, aged 50, is a General Manager of Production of the Group. She joined the Group 

in April 2014 and is responsible for planning, organizing and overseeing the procurement, production and quality 

control functions. She also serves as the general manager of the wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely Hubei Fuya 

Food Science and Technology Co., Ltd.（湖北馥雅食品科技有限公司）and Guangzhou Natural Food. Prior to joining 

the Group, she worked at Guangzhou Zhenkungfu Fast Food Chain Management Co., Ltd.（廣州真功夫快餐連鎖管
理有限公司）from August 1998 to April 2014. She obtained her bachelor’s degree in food science and agricultural 

engineering from Beijing Agricultural University（北京農業大學）in July 1994. She further completed her master’s 

studies in business administration at the Research Institute of Tsinghua University in Shenzhen（深圳清華大學研究
院）in December 2015.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Yik Pun（陳奕斌）, aged 39, was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 1 June 2018. 

He has accumulated over 10 years of accounting and auditing experience from working in various international 

accounting firms, including Grant Thornton and Ernst & Young, as well as various companies listed on the Main 

Board of the Stock Exchange, including Regal Hotels International Limited (stock code: 78), Chaoyue Group Limited 

(stock code: 147) and Zall Group Limited (stock code: 2098), as a key financial officer. He obtained his Bachelor of 

Business (Accounting) from Monash University, Melbourne, Australia in December 2004. He is a member of Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.



24 Natural Food International Holding Limited

Corporate Governance Report
 

Corporate Governance Report

　
　

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to its shareholders (the “Shareholders”) and protecting and 

enhancing Shareholders’ value through good corporate governance.

The Directors deeply recognise the importance of incorporating elements of good corporate governance in the 

management structures, internal control and risk management procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective 

accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board will continue to review and monitor the corporate governance of the Company with reference to the 

Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the 

Listing Rules so as to maintain a high standard of corporate governance of the Company.

The Board is of the view that during the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has complied with applicable 

code provisions as set out in the CG Code.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 

Code”) as contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct governing the securities 

transactions by the Directors. Following specific enquirys made by the Company on each of the Directors, all 

Directors have confirmed that they had complied with the Model Code during the Period.

The Board has also adopted the Model Code as guidelines for its relevant employees who are likely to be in 

possession of inside information of the Company in respect of their dealings in the securities of the Company. No 

incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant employees was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the management of the business affairs and the 

overall performance of the Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and ensures that the requisite 

financial and human resources support is in place for the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions performed 

by the Board include but are not limited to convening general meetings, implementing the resolutions passed at 

the general meetings, determining the business and investment plans of the Group, formulating the annual financial 

budget and financial statements of the Group, and formulating the proposals for dividend distributions as well as 

exercising other powers, functions and duties as conferred by the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of 

Association”). The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees various 

responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference. The responsibilities of these Board committees 

include monitoring the Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensuring that appropriate internal control 

and risk management are in place. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions to management of the 

Group if and when considered appropriate. The management is mainly responsible for the execution of the business 

plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board and assigned to it from time to time. The Directors have full 

access to information of the Group and the management has an obligation to supply the Directors with adequate 

information in a timely manner to enable the Directors to perform their responsibilities. The Directors are entitled to 

seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense.

Composition

The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting of two Executive Directors, two Non-executive Director 

and three Independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”), as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. GUI Changqing (Chairman)

Mr. ZHANG Zejun (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director

Ms. TSE Cheung On Anne

Mr. WANG Duo

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Senquan

Mr. HU Peng

Mr. OUYANG Liangyi
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The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on 

pages 19 to 23 of this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another, except that Ms. GUI Changqing, the Chairman and 

Executive Director of the Company, is the spouse of Mr. ZHANG Zejun, the Chief Executive Officer and Executive 

Director of the Company.

Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the Directors’ liability has been arranged by the 

Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and financial expertise, experience and independent judgement 

to the Board. Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving on various Board committees, all INEDs 

will continue to make various contributions to the Company.

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Company had three INEDs, which was in compliance with the requirement of 

the Listing Rules that the number of INEDs must represent at least one-third of the Board members, and that at least 

one of the INEDs has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 

3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation, the Company considers that all the INEDs are independent 

and have met the independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Paragraph A.2.7 of the CG Code requires that the Chairman should at least hold one meetings annually with the 

INEDs without the presence of the other Directors. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Chairman held 

one meeting with the INEDs on 16 December 2020 without the presence of any other Director. Going forward, the 

Chairman will continue to ensure compliance with this code provision.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Directors, on an ongoing basis, will receive updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. The Company 

encourages the Directors to enroll in a wide range of professional development courses and seminars relating to the 

Listing Rules, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and corporate governance practices so that they can continuously 

acquire and refresh their relevant knowledge and skills.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company organised training on duties and responsibilities of directors 

and seminar on updated laws and regulations for the Directors. Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, the 

Company has also provided reading materials to the Directors to develop and refresh their professional knowledge.
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Furthermore, the Company has arranged site visit for the Directors to enhance their understanding and knowledge of 

the Group’s business operation.

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board held five meetings, at which the Board discussed and 

approved the proposals of Company’ s overall strategy, considered and approved the proposals of Company’ s 2019 

annual report, 2019 annual results announcement, 2020 interim report, 2020 interim results announcement, and 

discussed the quarterly results of operations.

The table below sets out the details of Board meetings and general meeting attendance of each Director during the 

year ended 31 December 2020:

Name of Directors

Attendance/Number of 

board meetings

Attendance/Number of 

general meeting

Executive Directors

Ms. GUI Changqing (Chairman) 5/5 1/1

Mr. ZHANG Zejun 5/5 1/1

Non-executive Director

Ms. TSE Cheung On Anne 5/5 0/1

Mr. WANG Duo 5/5 1/1

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Senquan 5/5 1/1

Mr. HU Peng 5/5 1/1

Mr. OUYANG Liangyi 5/5 0/1
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Regular meeting of the Board is scheduled four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals with notice given to 

the Directors at least 14 days in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice will be given in a reasonable time in 

advance. The Directors are allowed to include any matter in the agenda that is required for discussion and resolution 

at the meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on issues arising at each of the Board meetings and to 

make informed decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers will be sent to all Directors at least three 

days before the intended date of the Board meeting, or such other period as agreed. The company secretary of the 

Company (the “Company Secretary”) is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes. Draft and final versions 

of the minutes will be circulated to the Directors for comments and record respectively within a reasonable time after 

each meeting and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.

Save for the family relationships disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual 

report, the Directors do not have any material financial, business or other relationships among members of the Board. 

Should a Director has a potential conflict of interest in a matter being considered in the Board Meeting, he or she will 

abstain from voting. The INEDs with no conflict of interest will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict of 

interest issues.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board has adopted a policy of the Board’s diversity and discussed all 

measurable objectives set for implementing the same.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that 

the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the 

Company’s business. All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the 

benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, 

including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills 

and knowledge.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by Ms. GUI Changqing and Mr. ZHANG Zejun, 

respectively. The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of 

the Board. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Company’s business development and daily management 

and operations generally. Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in writing. Therefore, the 

Company has complied with paragraph A.2.1 of the CG Code, which stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief 

Executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 

Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the 

Company are established with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees 

are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon 

request. A list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is set out under “Corporate Information” on 

page 2 of this annual report. The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance 

with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing 

Rules. The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely ZHANG Senquan, HU Peng and OUYANG Liangyi, all 

of which are our independent non-executive Directors. ZHANG Senquan has been appointed as the Chairman of the 

Audit Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to:

• making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external 

auditors, approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors, and dealing with any 

questions of their resignation or dismissal;

• reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit 

process in accordance with applicable standards and discussing with the auditors the nature and scope of the 

audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

• developing and implementing policy on engaging external auditors to supply non-audit services and reporting 

to the Board and identifying and making recommendations on any matters where action or improvement is 

needed;

• monitoring integrity of the Company’s financial statements and annual report and accounts, and half-year 

report, and reviewing significant financial reporting judgements contained in them.

• reviewing the Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal control systems;

• discussing the risk management and internal control systems with management to ensure that management 

has performed its duty to build and maintain effective systems;

• considering major investigation findings on risk management and internal control matters and management’s 

response to these findings as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative;
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• ensuring coordination between the internal and external auditors, and that the internal audit function is 

adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company, and reviewing and monitoring its 

effectiveness;

• reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;

• reviewing the external auditors’ management letter, any material queries raised by the auditors to management 

about accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s response;

• ensuring that the Board provide a timely response to the issues raised in the external auditors’ management 

letter; and

• considering other matters as referred to the Committee by the Board.

The Audit Committee has established and overseed a whistleblowing policy. In line with that commitment, the 

Company expects and encourages its employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders who have concerns 

about any suspected misconduct or malpractice within the Company to come forward and voice those concerns. All 

whistleblowing reports are investigated to the fullest extent possible and reported to the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings, at which the Audit Committee 

considered and approved the proposals of Company’s 2019 annual report, 2019 annual results announcement, 

annual audit plan for the year of 2019, 2020 interim report, 2020 interim results announcement, interim review plan 

for the year of 2020 by Ernst & Young, the external auditor of the Company, annual audit plan for the year of 2020. 

The Audit Committee also assessed the risk management and internal control measures of the Company.

The table below sets out the details of meetings attendance of each member of the Audit Committee during the year 

ended 31 December 2020:

Name of Directors Attendance/Number of Meetings

Mr. ZHANG Senquan (Chairman) 3/3

Mr. HU Peng 3/3

Mr. OUYANG Liangyi 3/3
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of 

reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code as set out in 

Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee has three members, namely ZHANG Senquan, HU 

Peng and OUYANG Liangyi, our independent non-executive Directors. HU Peng has been appointed as the Chairman 

of the Remuneration Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee include but are not limited to:

• making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for all Directors’ 

and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing 

remuneration policy;

• reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate 

goals and objectives;

• making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and 

senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any 

compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

• making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the Non-executive Directors;

• considering salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and employment 

conditions elsewhere in the Group;

• reviewing and approving compensation payable to Executive Directors and senior management for any loss or 

termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms or is otherwise fair 

and not excessive;

• reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for 

misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms or are otherwise reasonable and 

appropriate;

• ensuring that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration; and

• considering all other matters as referred to the Committee by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting, at which the Remuneration 

Committee reviewed and approved the proposals of remuneration of the Directors and senior management, the policy 

and structure of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management, etc.
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The table below sets out the details of meeting attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee during 

the year ended 31 December 2020:

Name of Directors Attendance/Number of Meetings

Mr. HU Peng (Chairman) 1/1

Mr. ZHANG Senquan 1/1

Mr. OUYANG Liangyi 1/1

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) with written terms of reference 

in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee consists 

of two independent non-executive Directors, being OUYANG Liangyi and HU Peng and one executive Director, being 

GUI Changqing. OUYANG Liangyi has been appointed as the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include but are not limited to:

• reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at 

least once annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the 

Company’s corporate strategy;

• identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations to 

the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

• assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors; and

• making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession 

planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive.

NOMINATION POLICY

This nomination policy adopted by the Company aims to set out the approach to guide the nomination committee 

of the Company in relation to the election, appointment and re-appointment of the Directors. It aims to ensure that 

the Board has the skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the 

Company’s business.

The provisions set out in the following paragraphs are regarded as the key nomination criteria and principles of the 

Company for the nomination of Directors of the Board, and these provisions constitute the “Nomination Policy” of 

the Company.
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a. to review the structure, size and composition (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 

background, ethnicity, professional experience, required expertise, skills, knowledge and length of service) 

of the Board at least once annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to 

complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

b. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations 

to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships. In identifying suitable candidates, 

the Committee shall consider candidates on merit and against the objective criteria, with due regard for the 

benefits of diversity on the Board;

c. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors of the Board 

and succession planning for Directors of the Board, in particular the Chairman of the Board and the Chief 

Executive Officer, taking into account the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge, 

experience and diversity needed in the future.

NOMINATION PROCESS

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the appointment of a Director in accordance with the 

following procedures and process:

(a) The Nomination Committee will, giving the consideration to the current composition and size of the Board, 

develop a list of desirable skills, perspectives and experience at the outset to focus the search effort on 

suitable candidates;

(b) The Nomination committee may consult any source it deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable 

candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors, advertisements, recommendations from an independent 

agency firm and proposals from shareholders of the Company with due consideration given to the Criteria;

(c) The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the 

candidates, such as conducting interviews, background checks, presentations and third-party reference 

checks;

(d) Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/

or by way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board for appointment.



34 Natural Food International Holding Limited

Corporate Governance Report
 

(e) The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed 

appointment and the proposed remuneration package; and

(f) The Board will have the final authority on determining the selection of nominees and all appointment of 

Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the consent to act as Director of the relevant Director (or any other 

similar filings requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director, as the 

case may be).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting, at which the Nomination 

Committee reviewed the proposals of the Board structure, the diversity policy of the Board members, the 

independence of the independent non-executive Directors, etc.

The table below sets out the details of meeting attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee during the 

year ended 31 December 2020:

Name of Directors Attendance/Number of Meetings

Mr. OUYANG Liangyi (Chairman) 1/1

Ms. GUI Changqing 1/1

Mr. HU Peng 1/1

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out in the Corporate Governance 

Functions of the Board adopted by the Company including:

• to develop and review the Company’s policies, procedures and practices on corporate governance;

• to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior 

management;

• to review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system on an ongoing basis and to 

remedy material internal control weaknesses;

• to review and monitor the Company’s policies, procedures and practices on compliance with legal and 

regulatory requirements;
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• to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees 

and Directors;

• to review the adequacy of resources, staff competency, training programs and budget of the Company’s 

accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions; and

• to review the Company’s compliance with CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report in the 

annual report of the Company.

The Board may delegate the corporate governance duties to a committee of the Board.

The Board’s annual review of the Company’s corporate governance practices for the year ended 31 December 2020 

has covered the aforesaid matters.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter 

with the Company and is appointed for a specific term of three years with effect from the respective date stated 

therein. There was no service contract entered into/appointment letter signed by the Company and any Directors to 

be re-elected in the forthcoming annual general meeting which is not determinable by the Company within one year 

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of 

Shareholders after his appointment and shall be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed 

by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting 

(the “AGM”) and shall then be eligible for re-election.

All the Directors, including INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation and will be eligible for re-election in 

accordance with the Articles of Association. At each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their 

number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation 

provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at the AGM at least once every three years. A retiring 

Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he 

retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to 

retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and does not offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so 

to retire shall be those who have been the longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and so that as 

between the persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they 

otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

In accordance with article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Ms. Gui Changqing and Mr. Zhang Zejun, our 

executive Directors, and Mr. Zhang Senquan, our independent non-executive Director, will retire from office by rotation 

at the Annual General Meeting. All the above three Directors, will retire at the Annual General Meeting and, being 

eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for formulating policies on remuneration of senior 

management of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors of the Company for the year ended 31 

December 2020 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

Pursuant to paragraph B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management (other 

than the Directors) whose particulars are contained in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this 

annual report for the year ended 31 December 2020 by band is set out below:

Remuneration band (in HK$) Number of individual

Nil to 1,000,000 1

1,000,001 to 1,500,000 2

1,500,001 to 2,000,000 –

2,000,001 to 2,500,000 1

2,500,001 to 3,000,000 –

3,000,001 to 3,500,000 –

3,500,001 to 4,000,000 1

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, Ernst & Young was engaged as the Group’s independent auditor. Apart from 

the provision of annual audit services, Ernst & Young provided the non-audit services in connection with the interim 

review.

The remuneration paid/payable to the independent auditors in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 is set 

out below:

Service Category Fees Paid/Payable

(RMB)

Audit Services for 2020 annual audit 1,550,000

Non-audit Services (which include interim review service) 400,000

Total 1,950,000
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the year 

ended 31 December 2020. The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are 

necessary to enable the Board to carry out as informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which 

are put to the Board for approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with quarterly updates on the 

Company’s performance, positions and prospects. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating 

to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In addition, Ernst & Young has stated in the independent auditor’s report its reporting responsibilities on the 

Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks the Company is willing 

to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains 

appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems. The Board oversees the management 

in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems. The Board 

acknowledges that such risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than 

eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute 

assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Company also has an internal audit function which primarily 

carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the issuer’s risk management 

and internal control systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at least, an annual basis. Internal audit 

function of the Company has been carried out under the leadership of the Board and the Audit Committee.

The key features of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems include the following:

• an organized structure with clearly defined and distinct scope of authority and responsibilities;

• a comprehensive financial accounting system to provide for various performance measurement indicators and 

to ensure compliance with relevant rules;

• annual plans prepared by senior management of the Company on financial reporting, operations and 

compliance with reference to significant potential risks;

• strict prohibition of unauthorized expenditures;

• guidelines on the dissemination of confidential and sensitive information;

• specific approval from Executive Director/responsible senior executive of the Company prior to commitment in 

all material matters;
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• appropriate policy to ensure the effective use of resources, the qualifications and experiences possessed 

by the staff members who are responsible for the Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions, and 

sufficient training provided to the staff members;

• management’s review and evaluation on the internal control procedures and monitoring of risk factors on a 

regular basis; and

• reporting to the Audit Committee about the findings on identified risks and measures to address such risks.

Various procedures have been put in place to safeguard the Group’s assets against unauthorised use or disposal, to 

ensure proper accounting records are kept so that reliable financial information can be provided when required, and 

to ensure compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. These procedures have been based on industry norms 

and are designed to provide reasonable assurance and protection against errors, losses and fraud.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review of the 

effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group covering all material controls, including financial, operational 

and compliance as well as risk management. The Board considers that the Group’s risk management and internal 

control are adequate and effective. The Board expects that a review of the risk management and internal control 

systems will be performed annually.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of 

Hong Kong and the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should be announced promptly. 

The procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information are as follows:

• the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules as well 

as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission of 

Hong Kong in June 2012;

• the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive 

distribution of information to the public through channels such as financial reporting, public announcements 

and the Company’s website;

• the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside information; and

• the Group has established and implemented procedures for responding to external enquiries about the 

Group’s affairs, so that only the Executive Directors, the Company Secretary and the Financial Controller of the 

Company are authorised to communicate with parties outside the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring that reliable and relevant flow of information is maintained 

amongst members of the Board and that all procedures have been adhered to in accordance with applicable laws, 

rules and regulations. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary on corporate 

governance and board practices and matters.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the company secretary of the Company was Mr. CHAN Yik Pun. The 

company secretary’s biography is set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on page 23 

of this annual report. In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. CHAN Yik Pun, in his capacity as the 

Company Secretary, has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 

December 2020.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at 

general meetings, including the election of individual Director. Except where the Chairman, in good faith, decides to 

allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands, all 

resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules. Poll results will be 

posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to make proposals or move resolutions at the AGMs under the 

memorandum of association of the Company and the Articles of Association (the “M&A”) or the laws of the Cayman 

Islands. Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution may, however, convene an extraordinary 

general meeting (the “EGM”) in accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM” set out 

below.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM

According to Article 12 of the Articles of Association, any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of 

the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general 

meetings of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to 

require an EGM to be called by the Board or the Company Secretary for the transaction of any business specified in 

such requisition, including making proposals or moving a resolution at the EGM.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for the purpose of making proposals or moving a resolution at 

the EGM must deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned (the 

“Requisitionist(s)”) at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (presently at Suite 2703, 27th 

Floor, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong) for the attention of the Company Secretary. The 

Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding in the 

Company, the reason(s) to convene an EGM and the proposed agenda.
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Following receipt of the Requisition, the identity and shareholding of the Eligible Shareholder(s) will be verified with the 

Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong. If the Requisition is found to be proper and in order, the Company 

Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM and/or include the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed 

by the Requisitionist(s) at the EGM within 2 months after the deposit of the Requisition. On the contrary, if the 

Requisition has been verified as not in order, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of the outcome and 

accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM nor include the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by the 

Requisitionist(s) at the EGM.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the 

Requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the 

Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Send Enquires to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them by post to the principal place 

of business of the Company in Hong Kong (presently at Suite 2703, 27th Floor, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, 

Wanchai, Hong Kong) or by email to ir@szwgmf.com, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Upon receipt of the enquiries, the Company Secretary will forward the communications relating to:

1. the matters within the Board’s purview to the Executive Directors;

2. the matters within a Board committee’s area of responsibility to the Chairman of the appropriate committee; 

and

3. ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, enquiries and client complaints to the appropriate 

management of the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a general annual dividend policy of declaring and paying dividends on an annual basis 

of approximately 20% to 40% of the total net profit attributable to the Group for any particular year. The declaration 

of dividends is subject to the discretion of the Directors, and, if necessary, the approval of our Shareholders. The 

amount of dividends actually declared and paid will also depend upon the Group’s earnings and cash flow, financial 

condition, capital requirements, investment requirements and any other conditions the Directors may deem relevant. 

Any declaration and payment, as well as the amount, of any dividend will also be subject to the Articles of Association 

and the Cayman Companies Law. The Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or by other means that we 

consider appropriate.
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The Board has the discretion to declare dividends to the Shareholders, subject to the Articles and all applicable laws 

and regulations and taking into consideration factors set out below:

(1) financial results;

(2) cash flow situation;

(3) business conditions and strategies;

(4) future operations and earnings;

(5) capital requirements and expenditure plans;

(6) interests of shareholders;

(7) taxation consideration;

(8) any contractual, statutory and regulatory restrictions on payment of dividends; and

(9) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Company will evaluate its dividend policy and distributions made from time to time.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy with the objective of ensuring that the 

Shareholders will have equal and timely access to information about the Company in order to enable the 

Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow them to engage actively with the Company.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders through the Company’s financial reports, AGMs and other 

EGMs that may be convened as well as all the published disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange. To promote 

effective communication, the Company maintains a website at www.szwgmf.com, where up-to-date information and 

updates on the Company’s business operations and developments, financial information, corporate governance 

practices and other information are available for public access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report, there is no any change in the 

Company’s M&A. The Company’s M&A are available on the website of the Company and that of the Stock Exchange.
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Report of the Board of Directors

　
　

The Board is pleased to present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 

2020 of the Group.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The registered office of the Company is situated in the Cayman Islands and its operation headquarter is located at 

Shenzhen Guangdong Province, the PRC.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group’s operations are substantially conducted in the PRC 

through its direct or indirect subsidiaries. The principal activities and other details of subsidiaries of the Company are 

set out in note 1 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the business of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in the section 

headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 18 of this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 

2020 are set out in the Financial Statements on pages 66 to 69 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

At the Board meeting held on 30 March 2021, the Board was resolved not to pay final dividend for the year ended 

31 December 2020.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2020 AGM will be held on 31 May 2021. Notice of the 2020 AGM will be published and issued to Shareholders in 

due course.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purposes of ascertaining the members’ eligibility to attend and vote at the AGM, the Company’s register of 

members will be closed during the following periods:

(A) For ascertaining eligibility to attend and vote at the AGM:

• Latest time to lodge transfers documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 25 May 2021 (Tuesday)

• Closure of register of members 26 May 2021 (Wednesday) to 31 May 2021 (Monday)

To be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all duly stamped instruments of transfers, accompanied by the 

relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, namely 

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 

Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than the respective latest time as stated above.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of the Group in the form of a comparative table for 

the last five financial years is set out on pages 150 to 151 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company is subject to environmental protection laws and regulations promulgated by the governments in the 

jurisdictions in which the Company operates its business. The Company has dedicated a team of personnel to 

handle the environmental compliance-related matters, and implemented stringent waste treatment procedures in the 

manufacturing facilities.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company was registered by way of continuation in the Cayman Islands with its principal business conducted in 

the PRC, and its Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Therefore, the establishment and operation are subject to 

relevant laws in the Cayman Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong. For the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the 

date of this annual report, the Group complied with relevant laws and regulation in the Cayman Islands, the PRC and 

Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTY

The Group is exposed to the operational risk in relation to the business of the Group. With the growth and expansion 

of our operations, the potential risks to our business increase as well. In order to identify, assess and control the risks 

that may create impediments to our success, the Group has implemented a risk management system that covers 

each material aspect of our operations, including financial security, production, logistics, technology and compliance. 

As the risk management is a systematic project, each of the departments is responsible for identifying and evaluating 

the risks relating to its area of operations. The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing, assessing and 

reviewing our risk management policy and supervising the performance of our risk management system.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 12 December 2018 with net proceeds from 

the Global Offering of approximately HK$636.8 million (after deduction of underwriting fees and commissions and 

estimated expenses payable by the Company in connection with the Global Offering) and the balance of unutilised net 

proceeds of approximately HK$151.6 million as at the date of this annual report.

The net proceeds from the Global Offering have been and will be utilised in accordance with the purposes set out in 

the Prospectus. The table below sets out the planned applications of the net proceeds and actual usage up to the 

date of this annual report:

Budget

Amount that had
been utilized as at
31 December 2020

Remaining balance
as at 31 December

2020
(Unit HKD million)

To further enhance our integrated distribution platform and optimize our 
channel mix 222.9 222.9 –

– To expand the online presence through further developing the 
technology infrastructure 22.3 22.3 –

– To upgrade certain existing concessionary counters into integrated 
health food stores in supermarkets 22.3 22.3 –

– To further increase the number of the concessionary counters, 
including the related expense for decoration, equipment 
procurement and other fees 44.6 44.6 –

– To expand into and introduce our existing and/or new products at 
various high-frequency “on-the-go” consumption channels 133.7 133.7 –

To construct the new Nansha Manufacturing Facility in Guangzhou, 
Guangdong Province and the procurement of machinery and 
equipment for this planned processing facility 382.1 230.5 151.6

To use for general corporate purposes 31.8 31.8 –

Total 636.8 485.2 151.6

As at 31 December 2020, the Group holds the unutilised net proceeds as deposit with creditworthy banks with no 

recent history of default. For unutilized proceeds, there is no expected timeline currently. However, there has been no 

change to the intended use of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the Prospectus. The proceeds were used and 

are proposed to be used as and when appropriate based on the Group’s business needs according to the intentions 

previously disclosed in the Prospectus.
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SHARE CAPITAL

The changes in share capital of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 26 to the Financial 

Statements.

RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 28 to the Financial 

Statements.

As at 31 December 2020, the reserves of the Company available for distribution to Shareholders was approximately 

RMB600.5 million. 

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Since none of the Group’s sales to a single customer amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue during the 

Reporting Period, and sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total 

sales for the year, no major customer segment information is presented in accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating 

Segments.

The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 23.3% (2019: 20.9%) of the Group’s total purchases and the largest 

supplier accounted for 8.3% (2019: 8.1%) of the Group’s total purchases. 

As far as the Company is aware, none of the Directors nor his/her connected persons and none of the shareholders 

possessing over 5% of the interest in the capital of the Company possessed any interest in the above-mentioned 

suppliers and customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The changes in property, plant and equipment during the Reporting Period are set out in note 13 to the Financial 

Statements.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any bank loans and other borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any contingent liabilities.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors in office during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. GUI Changqing

Mr. ZHANG Zejun

Non-executive Director

Ms. TSE Cheung On Anne

Mr. WANG Duo

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Senquan

Mr. HU Peng

Mr. OUYANG Liangyi

Further details of the Directors and senior management are set forth in the section “Directors and Senior 

Management” of this annual report.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 19 to 23 of 

this annual report.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no changes in information of Directors required to be disclosed for 

the year ended 31 December 2020 pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules. The biographical details of the 

Directors of the Company are set out in the preceding section headed “Directors and Senior Management”.
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SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract/signed an appointment letter with the Company 

and is appointed for a specific term of three years unless terminated by not less than two months’ notice in writing 

served by either the Executive Director or the Company.

Each of the Non-executive Directors and the Independent non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter 

with the Company and is appointed for a specific term of three years with effect from the respective date stated 

therein.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles.

There was no service contract entered into/appointment letter signed by the Company and any Directors to be re-

elected in the forthcoming annual general meeting which is not determinable by the Company within one year without 

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 31 to the 

Financial Statement.

Save as disclosed above, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s 

business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected 

with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the Reporting 

Period.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTEREST

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries 

and a controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any 

contracts of any significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling 

shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at any time during the Reporting Period.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN 
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests or short positions of the Directors or chief executives of the Company then 
in office in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under 
such provisions of the SFO) or which would be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the 
register referred to therein, or which would be required, pursuant to the Model Code, are as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company:

Name of Director Nature of Interest Number of Shares

Approximate
percentage of
Shareholding

Mr. ZHANG Zejun (Note 2) Founder of a discretionary trust 930,000,000 (L) 42.41%
Ms. GUI Changqing (Note 2) Beneficiary of trust 930,000,000 (L) 42.41%
Mr. WANG Duo Beneficial owner 2,000,000 (L) 0.09%

Long position in share options of the Company:

Name of Director

Number of
share options

beneficially
owned

Ms. GUI Changqing 2,000,000
Mr. ZHANG Zejun 2,000,000
Mr. ZHANG Senquan 2,000,000
Mr. HU Peng 2,000,000
Mr. OUYANG Liangyi 2,000,000

Notes:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such shares.

(2) Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited, the trustee of the Paddy Aroma Trust, holds the entire issued share capital of Paddy 
Aroma Investment Limited. Paddy Aroma Investment Limited in turn holds the entire issued share capital of Natural Capital, 
which in turn directly holds 930,000,000 Shares. The Paddy Aroma Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr. Zhang (as 
the settlor) and the discretionary beneficiaries of which include Mr. ZHANG Zejun, Ms. GUI Changqing (the wife of Mr. ZHANG 
Zejun) and his children. Accordingly, each of Mr. ZHANG Zejun, Ms. GUI Changqing, Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited, 
Paddy Aroma Investment Limited are deemed to be interested in the 930,000,000 Shares held by Natural Capital.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any 
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required: (a) to be notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions 
which he/she was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), (b) pursuant to section 352 of the 
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or (c) pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2020, the following persons (other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had 
or deemed or taken to have an interest and/or short position in the shares or the underlying shares which would fall 
to be disclosed under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to 
be kept by the Company under section 336 of SFO, or who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the 
issued share capital of the Company:

Name Capacity Number of Shares

Approximate

percentage of

Shareholding

Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited 

(Note 2)

Trustee of a trust 930,000,000 (L) 42.41%

Paddy Aroma Investment Limited 

(Note 2)

Interest in a controlled corporation 930,000,000 (L) 42.41%

Natural Capital Holding Limited  

(Note 2)

Beneficial owner 930,000,000 (L) 42.41%

PepsiCo, Inc. Beneficial owner 566,506,000 (L) 25.83%

Mr. YANG Zhuoya (Note 3) Interest in controlled corporation; 

beneficial owner

183,784,000 (L) 8.38%

Natural Investment Holding Limited 

(Note 3)

Beneficial owner 27,794,000 (L) 1.27%

Beadvance Investments Limited 

(Note 3)

Beneficial owner 150,000,000 (L) 6.84%

Notes:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such shares.

(2) Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited, the trustee of the Paddy Aroma Trust, holds the entire issued share capital of Paddy 
Aroma Investment Limited. Paddy Aroma Investment Limited in turn holds the entire issued share capital of Natural Capital, 
which in turn directly holds 930,000,000 Shares. The Paddy Aroma Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr. ZHANG 
Zejun (as the settlor) and the discretionary beneficiaries of which include Mr. ZHANG Zejun, Ms. GUI Changqing (the wife of 
Mr. ZHANG Zejun) and his children. Accordingly, each of Mr. ZHANG Zejun, Ms. GUI Changqing, Trident Trust Company (HK) 
Limited, Paddy Aroma Investment Limited are deemed to be interested in the 930,000,000 Shares held by Natural Capital.

(3) Mr. YANG Zhuoya holds 5,990,000 Shares in the capacity as a beneficial owner. Mr. YANG Zhuoya holds the entire issued 
share capital of each of Natural Investment Holding Limited and Beadvance Investments Limited, which in turn directly holds 
27,794,000 Shares and 150,000,000 Shares, respectively. Accordingly, Mr. YANG Zhuoya is deemed to be interested in the 
27,794,000 Shares held by Natural Investment Holding Limited and the 150,000,000 Shares held by Beadvance Investments 
Limited.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, so far as the Directors or chief executive of the Company are 

aware, no other persons (other than a Director or the chief executive of the Company) or entities had any interests or 

short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 

2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be recorded in the 

register referred to therein.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the 

Company during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end 31 December 2020.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 19 November 2018, the Shareholders approved and conditionally adopted the Share Option Scheme to enable 

the Company to grant options to eligible participants as incentives and rewards for their contribution to the Group. 

The Share Option Scheme became effective on the Listing Date.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme:

(1) Purpose:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to incentivise and reward the Eligible Persons (as defined in 

paragraph 2 below) for their contribution to the Group and to align their interests with that of the Company so 

as to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of the Company.

(2) Participants:

The Board (including any committee or delegate of the Board appointed by the Board to perform any of its 

functions pursuant to the rules of the Share Option Scheme) may, at its absolute discretion, offer to grant an 

option to subscribe for such number of Shares as the Board may determine to an employee (whether full time 

or part-time) or a director of a member of our Group or associated companies of the Company, consultant, 

advisor, customer, supplier, agent, partner or contractor to the Group (“Eligible Persons”).

(3) Total number of Shares available for issue:

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and 

yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 222,100,000 Shares, 

representing 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the Listing Date.
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(4) Maximum entitlement of each participant:

No options shall be granted to any Eligible Person under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes 

of our Company which, if exercised, would result in such Eligible Person becoming entitled to subscribe for 

such number of Shares as, when aggregated with the total number of Shares already issued or to be issued to 

him under all options granted to him (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month 

period up to and including the date of offer of such options, exceeds 1% of the Shares in issue at such date.

Any further grant of options to an Eligible Person in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval 

of the Shareholders in general meeting with such Eligible Person and his close associates (or if such Eligible 

Person is a connected person of our Company, his associates) abstaining from voting.

Each grant of options to a Director (including an independent non-executive Director) of any member of our 

Group or associated company of our Company, chief executive or substantial shareholder of our Company, 

or any of their respective associates, under the Share Option Scheme must be approved by the independent 

non-executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the proposed grantee of 

the options).

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director of our 

Company, or any of their respective associates, would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon 

exercise of all options already granted and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme (including options 

exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12 month period up to and including the date of 

such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the securities at the date of each grant, in 

excess of HK$5 million,

such further grant of options by the Board must be approved by the Shareholders in general meeting. Any 

Shareholder who is a connected person of our Company must abstain from voting on the resolution to 

approve such further grant of options, except that such a connected person may vote against such resolution 

subject to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company shall send to the Shareholders a circular 

containing the information required under the Listing Rules for the purpose of seeking the approval of the 

Shareholders.
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(5) Period during which the options must be exercised to subscribe for Shares:

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the Listing 

Date, after which period no further options will be granted but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall 

remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior 

thereto which are at that time or become thereafter capable of exercise under the Share Option Scheme, or 

otherwise to the extent as may be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

(6) Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised:

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must be held before it can be exercised except 

otherwise imposed by the Board.

(7) Amount payable on application or acceptance of the option and the period within which 

payments or calls must or may be made, or loans for such purposes must be repaid:

An offer of options shall be open for acceptance for such period (not exceeding 30 days inclusive of, and from, 

the date of offer) as the Board may determine and notify to the Eligible Person concerned provided that no 

such offer shall be open for acceptance after the expiry of the duration of the Share Option Scheme. An offer 

of options not accepted within this period shall lapse. An amount of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance 

of the grant of an option and such payment shall not be refundable and shall not be deemed to be a part 

payment of the exercise price.

(8) Basis of determining the exercise price:

Subject to any adjustment made as set out in the section headed “Effect of alternation to share capital” in the 

Prospectus, the exercise price shall be such price as determined by the Board and notified to an option-holder 

and which shall not be less than the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of 

offer of the option;

(ii) the average of the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets 

for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of the option; and

(iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

(9) Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme:

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on 12 December 

2018, subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting or by the Board.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company granted 74,019,823 share options on 12 June 2019 at an exercise price 

of HK$1.468 per share and exerciseable from the 12 June 2019 to 11 December 2028 (both days inclusive). The 

closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant of such Share Options was HK$1.45. Among the 

74,019,823 Share Options granted, (i) 61,468,366 Share Options were granted to the employees of the Group, and 

(ii) 12,551,457 Share Options were granted to Directors (including the independent non-executive Director), chief 

executive and/or substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company and directors of subsidiaries 

of the Company, details of which are set out as follows:

Name of grantee Position in the Company

Number of

Share Options

Ms. GUI Changqing Chairman and Executive Director 2,000,000

Mr. ZHANG Zejun Chief executive officer and Executive Director 2,000,000

Mr. ZHANG Senquan Independent non-executive Director 2,000,000

Mr. HU Peng Independent non-executive Director 2,000,000

Mr. OUYANG Liangyi Independent non-executive Director 2,000,000

Mr. WANG Jun A director of certain subsidiaries of the Company 1,172,436

Mr. GUI Xuejun A director of certain subsidiaries of the Company 1,279,021

Mr. LIAO Longxiang A director of certain subsidiaries of the Company 100,000

None of the grant of Share Options were subject to Shareholders’ approval. The Share Options granted shall vest in 

the proposed grantees in accordance with the timetable below:

(i) 13,860,000 Share Options shall be subject to a vesting period as follows:

Vesting date Percentage of Share Options to vest

12 June 2020 to 11 December 2028 100% of the total number of Share Options granted

(ii) 22,000,000 Share Options shall be subject to a vesting period as follows:

Vesting date Percentage of Share Options to vest

12 December 2019 to 11 December 2028 50% of the total number of Share Options granted
12 December 2020 to 11 December 2028 50% of the total number of Share Options granted

(iii) 23,159,823 Share Options shall be subject to a vesting period as follows:

Vesting date Percentage of Share Options to vest

12 June 2019 to 11 December 2028 40% of the total number of Share Options granted
12 June 2020 to 11 December 2028 30% of the total number of Share Options granted
12 June 2021 to 11 December 2028 30% of the total number of Share Options granted
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(iv) 15,000,000 Share Options shall be subject to a vesting period as follows:

Vesting date Percentage of Share Options to vest

12 June 2020 to 11 December 2028 20% of the total number of Share Options granted

12 June 2021 to 11 December 2028 20% of the total number of Share Options granted

12 June 2022 to 11 December 2028 20% of the total number of Share Options granted

12 June 2023 to 11 December 2028 20% of the total number of Share Options granted

12 June 2024 to 11 December 2028 20% of the total number of Share Options granted

During the Reporting Period, 3,168,130 Share Options had cancelled and no share options had been exercised. As 

at 31 December 2020, 63,875,219 Share Options were outstanding.

Details of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and those remained outstanding as at 31 December 

2020 are as follows:

Number of share options

Name and class of grantees Date of grant

Balance
as at

1 January
2020

Granted
during the

year ended
31 December

2020

Exercised
during the

year ended
31 December

2020

Cancelled/
Lapsed

during the year
31 December

2020

Balance
as at

31 December
2020

Exercise
price

per share
(HK$)

Exercisable
period

Executive Directors
Ms. GUI Changqing 12 June 2019 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 1.468 Note a
Mr. ZHANG Zejun 12 June 2019 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 1.468 Note a

Independent non-executive 
Directors

Mr. ZHANG Senquan 12 June 2019 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 1.468 Note a
Mr. HU Peng 12 June 2019 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 1.468 Note a
Mr. OUYANG Liangyi 12 June 2019 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 1.468 Note a

10,000,000 – – – 10,000,000

Continuous contract employees 12 June 2019 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000 1.468 Note a
12 June 2019 20,263,349 – – 2,838,130 17,425,219 1.468 Note b
12 June 2019 19,000,000 – – – 19,000,000 1.468 Note c
12 June 2019 12,780,000 – – 330,000 12,450,000 1.468 Note d

56,043,349 – – 3,168,130 52,875,219

Those who have or may have 
contributed to the Group 12 June 2019 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 1.468 Note a

1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000

67,043,349 – – 3,168,130 63,875,219
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(a) 20% of the share options are exercisable commencing from 12 June 2020, 20% of the share options are exercisable 
commencing from 12 June 2021, 20% of the share options are exercisable commencing from 12 June 2022, 20% of the 
share options are exercisable commencing from 12 June 2023, 20% of the share options are exercisable commencing from 
12 June 2024 respectively to 11 December 2028.

(b) 40% of the share options are exercisable commencing from 12 June 2019, 30% of the share options are exercisable 
commencing from 12 June 2020, 30% of the share options are exercisable commencing from 12 June 2021 respectively to 
11 December 2028.

(c) 50% of the share options are exercisable commencing from 12 December 2019, 50% of the share options are exerciseable 
commencing from 12 December 2020 respectively to 11 December 2028.

(d) 100% of the share options are exercisable commencing from 12 June 2020 to 11 December 2028.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as discussed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this annual 

report, at no time during the Reporting Period were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in 

or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective associates nor was the Company and any 

of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the continuing connected transaction of the Group during the Reporting Period have been disclosed in the 

Prospectus, which is fully exempted from the reporting, announcement, Shareholders’ approval and annual review 

requirements under the Listing Rules.

PROPERTY INTERESTS

Description Use Approximate area Stage of completion

Percentage
of interest
attributable to
the Company

West Side of Hengli Yiheng Road, Hengli 
Food Industrial Park, Hengli Town, 
Nansha District, Guangzhou City, 
Guangdong Province, People’s Republic 
of China

Factory Site area – approximately  
58,000 sq. m.

Gross floor area – approximately 
60,000 sq. m.

Construction in progress 100
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year 

ended 31 December 2020 are set out in notes 8-9 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group in this 

annual report.

None of the Directors waived his/her emoluments nor has agreed to waive his/her emoluments for the year ended 31 

December 2020.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES

On 20 March 2020, the Company cancelled a total of 4,500,000 Shares bought back on the Stock Exchange. During 

the Reporting Period, there was no purchase, sale and redemption of any listed securities of the Company by the 

Company or any of its subsidiaries.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the charitable contributions and other donations amounted to RMB1,029,644.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision regarding pre-emptive rights in the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would 

oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements of good corporate governance in the management 

structures and internal control procedures of the Company so as to achieve effective accountability. The Company is 

committed to the view that the Board should include a balanced composition of Executive Directors and Independent 

non-executive Directors so that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can effectively exercise 

independent judgement.

The Audit Committee, consisting of all three Independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. ZHANG Senquan 

(chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. HU Peng and Mr. OUYANG Liangyi, is responsible for reviewing the 

Company’s corporate governance policies and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and will make relevant 

recommendations to the Board accordingly.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT STATUS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his 

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the Independent non-

executive Directors independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Ms. Tse Cheung On Anne, currently serves as an outside director of Calbee, Inc., a Japanese snack food company 

listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock code: 2229). Since Ms. Tse Cheung On Anne does not hold any executive 

role in Calbee, Inc. and is merely providing independent advice and guidance in her capacity as an outside director, 

the Company and Ms. Ms. Tse Cheung On Anne are both satisfied that there is no actual or potential competition 

between the Company and Calbee, Inc..

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors or their respective close associates had interests in businesses which 

compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group pursuant to the Listing 

Rules.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Pursuant to the Deed of Non-competition, each of Mr. ZHANG Zejun and Natural Capital has undertaken to the 

Company that it/he will not engage in, and shall procure his/its close associates (other than members of the 

Group) not to engage in, any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with 

the businesses of the Group. Details of the Deed of Non-competition have been disclosed in the section headed 

“Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders — Competing Interests — Deed of Non-competition” of the 

Prospectus.

The Company has received from Mr. ZHANG Zejun and Natural Capital an annual confirmation that he/it has fully 

complied with his/its obligations under the Deed of Non-competition. The independent non-executive Directors have 

reviewed and were satisfied that each of Mr. ZHANG Zejun and Natural Capital had complied with and enforced the 

provisions of the Deed of Non-competition during the Period.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors 

confirmed that the Company has maintained a sufficient public float required under the Listing Rules as at the date of 

this annual report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group recognises that the employees, customers and suppliers are keys to corporate sustainability and are keen 

on developing long-term relationships with stakeholders.

The Company places significant emphasis on human capital and strives to foster an environment in which the 

employee can develop their full potential and to assist their personal and professional growth. The Company provides 

a fair and safe workplace, promoting diversity to our staff, providing competitive remuneration and benefits and 

career development opportunities based on their merits and performance. The Group also puts on-going efforts to 

provide adequate trainings and development resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of the latest 

development of the market and the industry and, at the same time, improve their performance and self-fulfillment in 

their positions.

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil 

its immediate and long-term goals. To maintain its market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at 

delivering constantly high standards of quality in the service to its customers. During the Reporting Period, there was 

no material and significant legal dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or customers.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

For any tax implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in the shares of the Company, shareholders 

should consult an expert.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be 

indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges, 

losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty 

in their offices.

The Company has taken appropriate insurance coverage in respect of Directors’ and officers’ liability since 30 

January 2020 until the end of 2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of 

the Company were entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no other significant event relevant to the business or financial performance of the Group that has come to 

the attention of the Directors since 31 December 2020.
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REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL RESULTS

The Audit Committee had reviewed this annual report (including the Financial Statements) and the annual results 

announcement of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 and had submitted the same to the Board 

for approval. Members of the Audit Committee were of the opinion that the Financial Statements, the results 

announcement and this annual report had been prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting standards 

and the Listing Rules and that adequate disclosure had been made.

AUDITORS

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been audited by Ernst & Young 

which will retire, and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the 

forthcoming annual general meeting.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

GUI Changqing

Chairman

30 March 2021
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Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

Tel : +852 2846 9888
Fax : +852 2868 4432
ey.com

1
22

To the shareholders of Natural Food International Holding Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Natural Food International Holding Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 149, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included 
the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed 
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition

The Group is principally engaged in the processing 

and selling of natural health food.

There is risk inherent in the revenue recorded based 

on the fact that the Group earns revenue primarily 

through a chain of retail outlet channels and third-

party online retail platform networks.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the 

Group’s consol idated revenue amounted to 

RMB1,438,547,000. Revenue was significant in our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements for the 

current year.

Please refer to note 2.4 to the consolidated financial 

statements for the summary of accounting policies 

relating to revenue recognition, and note 5 to the 

consolidated financial statements for the related 

disclosure of revenue for the Group.

We reviewed and assessed the Group’s revenue 

recognition policy across various sales channels and 

significant terms and conditions in contracts.

We obtained an understanding of the transaction 

process of revenue recognition and evaluated the 

design, implementation and operating effectiveness 

of key internal controls which govern the revenue 

recognition.

We performed analytical procedures on the Group’s 

revenue by different channels and by months to 

identify and investigate transactions of higher risks of 

misstatements. We also performed revenue cut-off 

procedures as well as tests of details as part of our 

substantive audit procedures.

We obtained confirmations, on a sample basis, from 

major retail outlet channels of the Group. For uncollected 

confirmations, we performed alternative procedures by 

comparing details with contracts, invoices and other 

related documentation.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Deferred tax assets against tax losses

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has recorded 

deferred tax assets of RMB65,642,000, of which 

RMB48,268,000 were resulting from tax losses 

carried forward. The Company recognises these 

deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable 

that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax 

assets to be recovered. The probability of recovery is 

impacted by uncertainties regarding the likely timing 

and the level of future taxable profits, together with 

tax planning strategies and the expiration date of 

losses. We focused on this area as the estimation 

process is highly based on assumptions which 

are influenced by projected market and economic 

conditions.

Please refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial 

statements for the significant accounting judgements 

and estimates relating to recognition of deferred tax 

assets, and note 16 to the consolidated financial 

statements for the related disclosure of deferred tax 

assets for the Group.

Our audit procedures included evaluating assumptions 

used by the Company to determine the recoverable 

amount per tax jurisdiction.

Furthermore, we also examined the information derived 

from the Company’s business plans that were subject to 

internal reviews.

We also reviewed profit forecast prepared by the 

management to assess the ability of the Group to utilise 

these losses and that recognition of the related deferred 

tax assets was appropriate.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 

work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 

to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 

a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 

Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to 

cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing 

the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 

towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 

may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 

in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 

events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 

opinion.

We communicate with the board of directors of the Company regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 

thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguard applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 

the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 

report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Tjen, Michael.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

30 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

and Other Comprehensive Income

Year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

 

REVENUE 5 1,438,547 1,784,086

Cost of sales (431,996) (464,884)

Gross profit 1,006,551 1,319,202

Other income and gains 5 9,918 22,854

Selling and distribution expenses (967,229) (1,092,422)

Administrative expenses (81,020) (102,905)

Impairment losses on financial assets 6 (9,595) (4,590)

Other expenses (10,713) (1,259)

Finance costs 7 (972) (815)

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 (53,060) 140,065

Income tax credit/(expense) 10 38,608 (13,735)

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (14,452) 126,330

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent 12 (14,452) 126,330

Non-controlling interests – –

(14,452) 126,330
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified to  

profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 29,307 (10,286)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not to be  

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Translation from functional currency to presentation currency (39,912) 15,763

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE YEAR (25,057) 131,807

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent (25,057) 131,807

Non-controlling interests – –

(25,057) 131,807

(Loss)/Earnings per share (expressed in RMB)

Basic 12 (0.01) 0.06

Diluted 12 (0.01) 0.06

2020 2019

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
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31 December 2020

2020 2019

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 13 306,099 299,772

Right-of-use assets 15 54,469 58,611

Intangible assets 14 598 1,045

Deferred tax assets 16 65,642 19,958

Total non-current assets 426,808 379,386

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 17 92,022 113,957

Trade and bills receivables 18 161,934 225,583

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19 20,750 –

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 20 41,422 67,065

Amount due from a director 32 – 6

Amounts due from related parties 32 10,448 10,802

Cash and cash equivalents 21 564,175 558,048

Restricted bank deposits 21 557 555

Total current assets 891,308 976,016

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables 22 52,618 63,265

Contract liabilities 23 12,330 10,762

Other payables and accruals 24 124,212 133,462

Lease liabilities 15(b) 5,389 5,565

Tax payable 31,251 32,915

Total current liabilities 225,800 245,969

NET CURRENT ASSETS 665,508 730,047

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,092,316 1,109,433
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2020 2019

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred income 25 500 88

Deferred tax liabilities 16 3,324 3,324

Lease liabilities 15(b) 13,004 16,180

Total non-current liabilities 16,828 19,592

Net assets 1,075,488 1,089,841

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share capital 26 147 147

Treasury shares 26 – (6,359)

Other reserves 28 1,075,341 1,096,053

Non-controlling interests – –

Total equity 1,075,488 1,089,841

Gui Changqing Zhang Zejun

Director Director
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Attributable to owners of the parent

Share 

capital

Treasury 

shares

Share 

premium

Share 

option 

reserve

Merger 

reserve

Exchange

fluctuation

reserve

Statutory

surplus 

reserve

Retained 

profits/

accumulated 

losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 26) (Note 26) (Note 28(a)) (Note 28(b)) (Note 28(c)) (Note 28(d))

At 1 January 2020 147 (6,359) 1,144,097 14,789 (87,350) (13,855) 32,496 5,876 1,089,841

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (14,452) (14,452)

Exchange differences on translation  

of foreign operations – – – – – 29,307 – – 29,307

Translation from functional currency  

to presentation currency – – – – – (39,912) – – (39,912)

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – – – (10,605) – (14,452) (25,057)

Shares repurchased and cancelled – 6,359 (6,359) – – – – – –

Equity-settled share option arrangements – – – 10,704 – – – – 10,704

Transfer to statutory reserve funds – – – – – – 336 (336) –

At 31 December 2020 147 – 1,137,738* 25,493* (87,350)* (24,460)* 32,832* (8,912)* 1,075,488

At 1 January 2019 149 – 1,222,304 – (87,350) (19,332) 32,328 (75,274) 1,072,825

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 126,330 126,330

Exchange differences on translation  

of foreign operations – – – – – (10,286) – – (10,286)

Translation from functional currency  

to presentation currency – – – – – 15,763 – – 15,763

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – 5,477 – 126,330 131,807

Shares repurchased and cancelled (2) (6,359) (39,763) – – – – – (46,124)

Equity-settled share option arrangements – – – 15,229 – – – – 15,229

Share options exercised – – 1,750 (440) – – – – 1,310

Share issue expenses – – (590) – – – – – (590)

Transfer to statutory reserve funds – – – – – – 168 (168) –

Final 2018 dividend declared – – – – – – – (45,012) (45,012)

Interim 2019 dividend – – (39,604) – – – – – (39,604)

At 31 December 2019 147 (6,359) 1,144,097* 14,789* (87,350)* (13,855)* 32,496* 5,876* 1,089,841

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB1,075,341,000 (2019: RMB1,096,053,000) in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss)/profit before tax (53,060) 140,065

Adjustments for:

Bank interest income 5 (1,237) (2,512)

Income from financial assets measured  

at fair value through profit or loss 5 (2,648) (3,335)

Finance costs 7 972 815

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6 30,205 28,873

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6 7,501 5,528

Amortisation of intangible assets 6 447 607

Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables 6 9,595 4,590

Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 6 5,580 335

Equity-settled share option expenses 27 10,704 15,229

Unrealised exchange loss/(gain) 56 (506)

8,115 189,689

Decrease in inventories 21,935 8,329

Decrease in trade and bills receivables 57,282 9,429

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,  

other receivables and other assets 22,411 (9,858)

Decrease/(increase) in an amount due from a director 6 (6)

Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from related parties 354 (1,427)

Increase in restricted bank deposits (2) (555)

Decrease in trade payables (10,646) (8,856)

Decrease in other payables and accruals (6,998) (659)

Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 1,568 (5,907)

Increase/(decrease) in deferred income 412 (189)

Cash generated from operations 94,437 179,990

Interest received 1,237 2,512

Income tax paid (8,740) (10,936)

Net cash flows from operating activities 86,934 171,566
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CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of financial assets measured  

at fair value through profit or loss (171,300) (130,000)

Proceeds from redemption of financial assets  

measured at fair value through profit or loss 153,198 204,735

Decrease in time deposits – 25,000

Purchase of items of property, plant and equipment (44,423) (118,908)

Purchase of items of intangible assets – (109)

Proceeds from disposal of items of property,  

plant and equipment 29 7

Net cash flows used in investing activities (62,496) (19,275)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of a loan – (69,568)

Share issue expenses – (590)

Interest paid (972) (815)

Share options exercised – 1,310

Principal portion of lease payments (6,763) (4,209)

Share repurchase – (46,124)

Dividend paid – (84,616)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (7,735) (204,612)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND  

CASH EQUIVALENTS 16,703 (52,321)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 558,048 604,913

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (10,576) 5,456

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 564,175 558,048

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH  

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 21 564,175 558,048

2020 2019

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
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Year ended 31 December 2020

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was formerly known as Roomy Development Holdings Limited, a limited liability company 

incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) on 30 November 2009. It was registered by 

way of continuation in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under the laws of the 

Cayman Islands and changed its name to “Natural Food International Holding Limited” on 11 May 2018. The 

address of the registered office of the Company is PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, 

Cayman Islands. The Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 

(the “Stock Exchange”) on 12 December 2018 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as 

the “Group”) are principally engaged in processing and selling natural health food in the People’s Republic of 

China (the “PRC”).

Information about subsidiaries

Name

Place and date 

of incorporation/

establishment and 

place of business

Issued 

ordinary/

registered 

share capital

Percentage of equity interests

 attributable to the Company

Principal 

activities

Direct Indirect

Natural Food International  

Group Limited

Hong Kong,  

14 January 2009

Hong Kong dollar 

(“HK$”)10,000

100% – Investment 

holding

Gold Parsons International  

Limited (“Gold Parsons”)

BVI,  

16 December 2009

United States dollar 

(“USD”)1,783

100% – Investment 

holding

Natural Food Online Limited Hong Kong,  

28 April 2009

HK$10,000 – 100% Investment 

holding

Shenzhen Natural Food  

Co., Ltd. #

PRC,  

15 December, 2011

HK$8,000,000 – 100% Sale of natural 

health food

Tongyuan New Agricultural 

Development (Huanggang)  

Co., Ltd. #

PRC,  

19 October 2009

HK$40,000,000 – 100% Investment 

holding

Hubei Fuya Food Science  

and Technology Co., Ltd.

PRC,  

30 March 2011

RMB20,000,000 – 100% Manufacture and 

sale of natural 

health food

Guangxi Guiping Jingu  

Agricultural Development  

Co., Ltd.

PRC,  

1 August 2013

RMB4,000,000 – 100% Manufacture and 

sale of natural 

health food
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Name

Place and date 

of incorporation/

establishment and 

place of business

Issued 

ordinary/

registered 

share capital

Percentage of equity interests

 attributable to the Company

Principal 

activities

Direct Indirect

Natural Food (Guangzhou)  

Co., Ltd. #

PRC, 16 March 2016 HK$135,000,000 – 100% Manufacture and 

sale of natural 

health food

Fuya Foods Technology  

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. #

PRC, 4 June 2009 HK$21,000,000 – 100% Investment 

holding and 

management and 

administration

Shenzhen Xiangya Food  

Co., Ltd.

PRC, 9 March 2007 RMB1,000,000 – 100% Sale of natural 

health food

Shenzhen Changqing Food 

Technology Co., Ltd.

PRC, 10 November 2010 RMB5,000,000 – 100% Sale of natural 

health food

# These subsidiaries were registered as wholly-owned foreign enterprises under PRC law.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 

(“HKFRSs”) (which include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) 

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally 

accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have 

been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss, which have been measured at fair value. The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and 

all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for 

the year ended 31 December 2020. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, 

controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 

from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 

the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 

investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, 

the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 

including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using 

consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 

obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent 

of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having 

a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 

transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest 

of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities 

of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation 

differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value 

of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of 

components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained 

profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the 

related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 and the following revised 

HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (early adopted)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and 

HKAS 8

Definition of Material

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised 

HKFRSs are described below:

(a) Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) sets out a 

comprehensive set of concepts for financial reporting and standard setting, and provides guidance 

for preparers of financial statements in developing consistent accounting policies and assistance to all 

parties to understand and interpret the standards. The Conceptual Framework includes new chapters 

on measurement and reporting financial performance, new guidance on the derecognition of assets 

and liabilities, and updated definitions and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities. It also clarifies 

the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. The Conceptual 

Framework is not a standard, and none of the concepts contained therein override the concepts or 

requirements in any standard. The Conceptual Framework did not have any significant impact on the 

financial position and performance of the Group.

(b) Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance on the definition of a business. The 

amendments clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a business, it 

must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute 

to the ability to create output. A business can exist without including all of the inputs and processes 

needed to create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of whether market participants 

are capable of acquiring the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on 

whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes together significantly contribute to the 

ability to create outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus 

on goods or services provided to customers, investment income or other income from ordinary 

activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is 

substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment 

of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group has applied the 

amendments prospectively to transactions or other events that occurred on or after 1 January 2020. 

The amendments did not have any impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(c) Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address issues affecting financial reporting in the 

period before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative risk-free rate 

(“RFR”). The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue during 

the period of uncertainty before the introduction of the alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments 

require companies to provide additional information to investors about their hedging relationships 

which are directly affected by these uncertainties. The amendments did not have any impact on the 

financial position and performance of the Group as the Group does not have any interest rate hedging 

relationships.

(d) Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical expedient for lessees to elect not to apply lease 

modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19 

pandemic. The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence 

of the pandemic and only if (i) the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the 

lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately 

preceding the change; (ii) any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on 

or before 30 June 2021; and (iii) there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the 

lease. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020 with earlier 

application permitted and shall be applied retrospectively. During the year ended 31 December 2020, 

no monthly lease payments for the leases of the Group’s properties or plant have been reduced 

or waived by the lessors upon reducing the scale of production as a result of the pandemic. The 

amendments did not have any impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

(e) Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of material. The new definition states 

that information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to 

influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis 

of those financial statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or 

magnitude of information, or both. The amendments did not have any significant impact on the financial 

position and performance of the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 

effective, in the financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4  

and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 21

Amendments to HKFRS 10  

and HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture4

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 3

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 3, 6

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current3, 5

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use2

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract2

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs  

2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples 

accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 412

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements – 
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause  was revised in October 
2020 to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

6 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend 
the temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning 
before 1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon 

initial application. So far, the Group has expected that these standards will not have a significant effect on the 

Group’s financial performance and financial position.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on 

the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal 

market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for 

the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The 

fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 

pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 

economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 

that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 

are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 

unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 

within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 

determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation 

(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 

reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other 

than inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An 

asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair 

value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate 

cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the 

recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-

tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 

to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense 

categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously 

recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the 

recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is 

reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that 

asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any 

depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of 

such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow 

subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 

an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.



82 Natural Food International Holding Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2020

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its 

purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for 

its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as 

repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations 

where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying 

amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required 

to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and 

depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 

equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose 

are as follows:

Buildings 5%

Plant, machinery and equipment 10% to 19%

Motor vehicles 19%

Office equipment and others 19% to 32%

Leasehold improvements Shorter of estimated useful lives and remaining lease terms

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is 

allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, 

useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial 

year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised 

upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss 

on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference 

between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment 

losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing 

costs on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to 

the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 

acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible 

assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently 

amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 

intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset 

with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software

Software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its 

estimated useful life of 5 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group 

can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use 

or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future 

economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the 

expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is 

expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised using the 

straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products not exceeding five to seven years, 

commencing from the date when the products are put into commercial production.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 

in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases 

and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use 

assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 

underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 

depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs 

incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 

received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to 

dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is 

located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms 

and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Properties and plant 2 to 5 years

Leasehold land 50 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects 

the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease 

payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-

substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend 

on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease 

payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by 

the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group 

exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an 

index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers 

the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the 

lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. 

After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of 

interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities 

is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments 

(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in 

assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of Properties 

(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do 

not contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets 

to leases of office equipment that are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on short-term 

leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 

through other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 

characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables 

that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical 

expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a 

financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, 

transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the 

Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 

in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 

comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 

(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified 

and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in 

order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting 

contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at 

amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to 

collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect 

contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned business 

models are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 

that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 

sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or 

convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are 

subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, 

modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange 

revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the same 

manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised 

in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in other 

comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments 

designated at fair value through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition of equity under 

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on 

an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as 

other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the economic 

benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured 

reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial 

asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated 

at fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value 

with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably 

elected to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments 

classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other income in profit or 

loss when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with 

the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from 

the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not closely 

related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet 

the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies 

the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value 

through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted for 

separately. The financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its 

entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 

primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 

arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-

through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of 

the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor 

transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the 

Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred 

asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the 

Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 

of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could 

be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at 

fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due 

in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an 

approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the 

sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in 

credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are 

possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected 

over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased 

significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default 

occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the 

financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information 

that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, 

in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external 

information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before 

taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is 

no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised cost 

are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are classified within the following stages for 

measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified approach as 

detailed below.

Stage 1 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month 

ECLs

Stage 2 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition 

but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured 

at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 – Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or 

originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal 

to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component or when the 

Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the 

Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not 

track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting 

date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, 

adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 

loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 

appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 

payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, amounts due to directors and related parties, 

a dividend payable, convertible and redeemable preferred shares and an interest-bearing borrowing.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 

using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case 

they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised 

as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 

that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in 

finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 

or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated 

as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the 

respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.　

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 

position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention 

to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the moving 

weighted-average basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, 

direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling 

prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 

hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known 

amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally 

within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral 

part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 

on hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted 

as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable 

that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can 

be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the 

end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The 

increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs 

in profit or loss.

Customer loyalty program

The Group operates a customer loyalty program which allows customers to earn points when they purchase 

products of the Group. The points can then be redeemed for free services or products, subject to a minimum 

number of points being obtained. The loyalty points give rise to a separate performance obligation as they 

provide a material right to the customer. The consideration received or receivable from the products sold is 

allocated between the points earned by the customer loyalty program members and the other components of 

the sales transactions, based on relative stand-alone selling prices. The amount allocated to the points earned 

by the customer loyalty program members is recognised as a contract liability until the points are redeemed 

when the Group fulfils its obligations to supply services or products or when the points expire.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss 

is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 

taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 

end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in 

which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting 

period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 

purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 

joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 

probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused 

tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of 

unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 

the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 

and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 

temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 

which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 

deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting 

period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 

available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 

the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right 

to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 

relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different 

taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the 

assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred 

tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 

be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, 

it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to 

compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to 

profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of interest for the 

construction of a qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government loans is determined using the 

effective interest rate method, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial liabilities” above. The 

benefit of the government loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the difference 

between the initial carrying value of the loans and the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and 

released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of products (mainly including natural health food) directly to customers is recognised 

when control of the goods has transferred, being when the products are accepted by the customers. The 

customers have full discretion over the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the 

customers’ acceptance of the products.

The Group sells its products to end-customers via a chain of retail outlets or over third-party online retail 

platforms. The sales proceeds are settled by these sales channels normally in one to three months. Except 

for credit points granted under the customer loyalty program which are accounted for in “Customer loyalty 

program” above, there are no performance obligations in the contract with customers.

Determining whether revenue of the Group should be reported gross or net is based on a continuing 

assessment of various factors. When determining whether the Group is acting as the principal or agent in 

offering goods to the customer, the Group needs to first identify who controls the specified goods before 

they are transferred to the customer. The Group is a principal who obtains control any of the following: (i) a 

good or another asset from the other party that the Group then transfers to the customer; (ii) a good from the 

other party that the Group then combines with other goods in providing the specified good to the customer. 

If control is unclear, the Group records revenues on a gross basis when the Group is primarily obligated in a 

transaction, is subject to inventory risk, has latitude in establishing prices and selecting suppliers, or when 

there are several but not all of these indicators. Otherwise, the Group records the net amount earned as 

commissions from products sold provided.

The Group does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing 

component if it expects, at contract inception, that the period between the transfer of the promised good to 

the customer and when the customer pays for that good will be one year or less.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that 

exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a 

shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established, it is 

probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the 

dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If 

the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration 

or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional. 

Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of which are included in the accounting policies 

for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from 

a customer before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as 

revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to 

the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, 

costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are 

met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the entity can specifically 

identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to 

satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is 

consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other contract 

costs are expensed as incurred.

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the goods expected to be returned by customers. 

The asset is measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any expected costs 

to recover the goods and any potential decreases in the value of the returned goods. The Group updates the 

measurement of the asset for any revisions to the expected level of returns and any additional decreases in the 

value of the returned goods.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or all of the consideration received (or 

receivable) from a customer and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have to return 

to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the 

transaction price) at the end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible 

participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of the 

Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as 

consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants is measured by reference to the fair value at 

the date at which they are granted. The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit 

expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or 

service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end 

of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and 

the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to 

profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning 

and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date 

fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best 

estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are 

reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated 

service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the 

fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or 

performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have 

not been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the 

transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, 

provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the 

terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised 

for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial 

to the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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Share-based payments (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 

any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where 

non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new 

award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it 

is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as 

described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings 

per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are required to participate in a central 

pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. The subsidiaries operating in the PRC 

are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The 

contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central 

pension scheme. 

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those 

benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 

capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the 

assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary 

investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the 

borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of 

funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. 

Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and 

articles of association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim 

dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB. The Company’s functional currency is the Hong Kong dollar, 

and each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial 

statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded 

by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at 

the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 

at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on 

settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 

the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a 

foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The 

gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the 

recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose 

fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other 

comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of 

the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation currency of 

the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit 

or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 

exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive 

income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 

operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are 

translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash 

flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted 

average exchange rates for the year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their 

accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions 

and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the 

assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgement, 

apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 

the financial statements:

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 

against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. This requires significant judgement on the tax 

departments of certain transactions and also assessments on the probability that adequate future taxable 

profits will be available for the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue deferred tax liabilities in respect of withholding taxes 

arising from the distributions of dividends by certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax rules enacted in 

the jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the plan of the distribution of dividends. Such judgement is made 

with reference to the Group’s business plan and future cash requirements outside the PRC.

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group applies 

judgement in evaluating whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, 

it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or 

termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant 

event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise 

the option to renew or to terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant 

customisation to the leased asset).

The Group includes the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of properties due to the significance 

of these assets to its operations. These leases have a short non-cancellable period and there will be a 

significant negative effect on operating activities if a replacement is not readily available.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Customer loyalty program

The amount of revenue allocated to the points earned by the members of the Group’s customer loyalty 

program is based on the estimated stand-alone selling prices of the products and the respective loyalty points 

earned through the sales transactions. When estimating the stand-alone selling price of the loyalty points, the 

Group considers the likelihood that the customer will redeem the points. The Group updates its estimates of 

the points that will be redeemed on a quarterly basis and any adjustments to the contract liability balance are 

charged against revenue.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on 

days past due for groups of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is 

initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the 

historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions 

(i.e., gross domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased 

number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting 

date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are 

analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and 

ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast 

economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may 

also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The provision for expected credit losses 

of trade receivables as at 31 December 2020 amounted to RMB8,577,000, details of which are set out in note 

18 to the financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Leases – Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental 

borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have 

to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a 

similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the 

Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for 

subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms 

and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The 

Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required 

to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the 

right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. The non-financial assets are tested for impairment 

when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment exists when the 

carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of 

its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal 

is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or 

observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are 

undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating 

unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the processing and selling of natural health products. Information 

reported to the Group’s management for the purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment 

focuses on the operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s resources are integrated and no 

discrete operating segment financial information is available. Accordingly, no operating segment information is 

presented.

Geographical information

The Group operates within one geographical location because 100% of its revenue was generated in the PRC 

and all of its non-current assets and capital expenditure were located/incurred in the PRC. Accordingly, no 

geographical information is presented.

Information about major customers

The Group’s customers primarily consist of individual customers. During the years ended 31 December 2019 

and 2020, no revenue from transactions with a single external customer amounted to 10% or more of the 

Group’s total revenue.
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns and trade discounts (net 

of value-added tax), during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020.

An analysis of revenue and other income and gains is as follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from contracts with customers

Sale of goods 1,438,547 1,784,086

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time 1,438,547 1,784,086

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in the current year that was included in the 

contract liabilities at the beginning of the year:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue recognised that was included in the  

contract liabilities at the beginning of the year 10,762 16,669
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other income and gains

Government grants* 3,309 10,550

Bank interest income 1,237 2,512

Income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2,648 3,335

Commission income from provision of a sales platform 1,640 5,789

Others 1,084 668

9,918 22,854

* Various government grants have been received from local government authorities in the PRC. There are no unfulfilled 
conditions and other contingencies relating to these grants.
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6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2020 2019

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of inventories sold 431,996 464,884

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 30,205 28,873

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15(a) 7,501 5,528

Lease payments not included in the measurement  

of lease liabilities 15(c) 3,096 6,467

Research and development costs* 3,872 8,485

Amortisation of intangible assets 14 447 607

Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’  

and chief executive’s remuneration (note 8)):

Wages and salaries 149,981 168,206

Equity-settled share option expenses 8,554 14,821

Pension scheme contributions 9,926 18,438

Auditor’s remuneration 1,840 1,887

Impairment of trade receivables and  

other receivables** 18, 20 9,595 4,590

Loss on disposal of items of property,  

plant and equipment 5,580 335

Finance costs 7 972 815

Bank interest income 5 (1,237) (2,512)

* Research and development costs are included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income.

** Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables is included in “Impairment losses on financial assets” in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at the end of each financial year, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its 

contributions to the retirement schemes in future years.
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7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs from operations is as follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on a borrowing from a financial institution – 144

Interest on lease liabilities 972 671

972 815

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 

383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of 

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fees 720 720

Other emoluments

– Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,472 2,108

– Equity-settled share option expense 2,150 1,020

– Pension scheme contributions 52 74

4,674 3,202

5,394 3,922

During the year, certain directors were granted share options, in respect of their services to the Group, under 

the share option scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 27 to the financial 

statements. The fair value of such options, which has been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period, 

was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the current 

year is included in the above directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration disclosures.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The remuneration paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2020 Fees

Equity-settled 

share option 

expense Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Mr. Zhang Senquan 240 430 670

Mr. Hu Peng 240 430 670

Mr. Ouyang Liangyi 240 430 670

720 1,290 2,010

2019 Fees

Equity-settled 

share option 

expense Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Mr. Zhang Senquan 240 204 444

Mr. Hu Peng 240 204 444

Mr. Ouyang Liangyi 240 204 444

720 612 1,332

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year 

(2019: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors

2020

Salaries, 

allowances 

and benefits 

in kind

Equity-settled 

share option 

expense

Pension 

scheme 

contributions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors:

Ms. Gui Changqing 996 430 26 1,452

Mr. Zhang Zejun 996 430 26 1,452

1,992 860 52 2,904

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Wang Duo (note (a)) 240 – – 240

Ms. Tse Cheung On Anne (note (a)) 240 – – 240

480 – – 480

2,472 860 52 3,384



108 Natural Food International Holding Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2020

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (Continued)

2019

Salaries, 

allowances 

and benefits 

in kind

Equity-settled 

share option 

expense

Pension 

scheme 

contributions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors:

Ms. Gui Changqing 994 204 37 1,235

Mr. Zhang Zejun 994 204 37 1,235

1,988 408 74 2,470

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Wang Duo (note (a)) 60 – – 60

Ms. Tse Cheung On Anne (note (a)) 60 – – 60

Mr. NG Benjamin Jin-ping (note (b)) – – – –

120 – – 120

2,108 408 74 2,590

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during 

the year. 

Notes:

(a) Mr. Wang Duo and Ms. Tse Cheung On Anne were appointed as non-executive directors of the Company 
with effect from 30 September 2019.

(b) Mr. NG Benjamin Jin-ping resigned as a non-executive director of the Company on 30 July 2019.
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included no director (2019: None). Details of the remuneration 

of the five (2019: five) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Group are 

as follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other emoluments

– Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 8,227 8,071

– Equity-settled share option expense 1,832 4,621

– Pension scheme contributions 126 174

10,185 12,866

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within 

the following bands is as follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Nil to HK$1,000,000 – –

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 – 1

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 3 1

HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 1 1

HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 1 2

5 5

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to non-director and non-chief executive highest paid 

employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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10. INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profit arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in 

which members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin Islands and the Cayman Islands, the Group was 

not subject to any income tax in the British Virgin Islands and the Cayman Islands during the years ended 31 

December 2019 and 2020.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had no assessable profits derived from or 

earned in Hong Kong during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020.

Taxes on profits assessable in the PRC have been calculated at the prevailing tax rates, based on existing 

legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof. Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax 

Law (the “PRC Tax Law”) effective on 1 January 2008, the PRC corporate income tax rate of the Group’s 

subsidiaries operating in the PRC during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 was 25% on the 

taxable profits.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, income arising from the preliminary agricultural 

processed products in Guangxi Guiping Jingu Agricultural Development Co., Ltd. and Hubei Fuya Food 

Science and Technology Co., Ltd. was not subject to income tax, pursuant to the relevant PRC tax laws.

The income tax expenses of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 are analysed as 

follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current – PRC

Charge for the year 7,076 13,061

Deferred (note 16) (45,684) 674

Total tax (credit)/charge for the year (38,608) 13,735



111Annual Report 2020

Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2020

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to (loss)/profit before tax at the statutory rates for the 

jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the 

effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates to the effective tax rates are as follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

(Loss)/profit before tax (53,060) 140,065

Tax at the applicable statutory  

rate in each jurisdiction (8,273) 15.6 44,527 31.8

Effect of withholding tax on  

the distributable profits of  

the Group’s PRC subsidiaries – – 2,184 1.6

Income not subject to tax * (31,541) 59.4 (36,247) (25.9)

Expenses not deductible for tax 1,206 (2.3) 3,271 2.3

Tax charge at the effective rate (38,608) 72.8 13,735 9.8

* According to Notice of the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation on Announcing 

the Scope of Primary Processing of Agricultural Products Covered by Preferential Policies on Enterprise 

Income Tax (for Trial Implementation) promulgated on 20 November 2008, and Supplementary Notice 

of the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation on the Scope of Primary Processing 

of Agricultural Products Covered by Preferential Policies on Enterprise Income Tax issued on 11 May 

2011, the income derived from the prescribed scope of preliminarily-processed agricultural products 

can be exempted from corporate income tax. During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 

2020, Guangxi Guiping Jingu Agricultural Development Co., Ltd. and Hubei Fuya Food Science and 

Technology Co., Ltd, had such income derived from preliminarily-processed agricultural products which 

was not subject to corporate income tax.



112 Natural Food International Holding Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2020

11. DIVIDENDS

The board of directors did not recommend any payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 December 

2020.

12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE 
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to 

ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the 

year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings/(loss) per share amount is based on the profit/(loss) for the year 

attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in 

the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings/(loss) 

per share calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at 

no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary 

shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share are based on:

(Loss)/earnings 2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,  

used in the basic earnings/(loss) per share calculation (14,452) 126,330

Shares 2020 2019

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  

used in the basic earnings/(loss) per share calculation 2,188,514,000 2,199,559,819

Effect of dilution – weighted average number of ordinary shares:

Share options – –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  

used in the diluted earnings/(loss) per share calculation 2,188,514,000* 2,199,559,819*

* The share options had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings/(loss) per share for the years ended 

31 December 2019 and 2020 and were ignored in the calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings

Plant, 

machinery 

and 

equipment

Motor 

vehicles

Office 

equipment 

and others

Leasehold 

improvements

Construction 

in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2020

At 1 January 2020:

Cost 100,890 81,164 1,556 71,757 14,826 153,962 424,155

Accumulated depreciation (30,617) (46,888) (902) (41,079) (4,897) – (124,383)

Net carrying amount 70,273 34,276 654 30,678 9,929 153,962 299,772

At 1 January 2020, net of  

accumulated depreciation  

and impairment 70,273 34,276 654 30,678 9,929 153,962 299,772

Additions – 1,484 – 6,498 1,831 32,358 42,171

Disposals – (1,786) (6) (3,817) – – (5,609)

Depreciation provided during  

the year (note 6) (6,377) (9,025) (148) (10,946) (3,709) – (30,205)

Exchange realignment – – (30) – – – (30)

At 31 December 2020,  

net of accumulated depreciation 63,896 24,949 470 22,413 8,051 186,320 306,099

At 31 December 2020:

Cost 100,890 60,847 1,402 33,300 14,274 186,320 397,033

Accumulated depreciation (36,994) (35,898) (932) (10,887) (6,223) – (90,934)

Net carrying amount 63,896 24,949 470 22,413 8,051 186,320 306,099
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Buildings

Plant, 

machinery 

and 

equipment

Motor 

vehicles

Office 

equipment 

and others

Leasehold 

improvements

Construction 

in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2019

At 1 January 2019:

Cost 100,890 76,819 803 58,865 4,567 66,939 308,883

Accumulated depreciation (23,858) (39,254) (763) (29,624) (2,738) – (96,237)

Net carrying amount 77,032 37,565 40 29,241 1,829 66,939 212,646

At 1 January 2019, net of  

accumulated depreciation  

and impairment 77,032 37,565 40 29,241 1,829 66,939 212,646

Additions – 5,400 753 12,906 10,259 87,023 116,341

Disposals – (332) – (10) – – (342)

Depreciation provided during  

the year (note 6) (6,759) (8,357) (139) (11,459) (2,159) – (28,873)

At 31 December 2019,  

net of accumulated depreciation 70,273 34,276 654 30,678 9,929 153,962 299,772

At 31 December 2019:

Cost 100,890 81,164 1,556 71,757 14,826 153,962 424,155

Accumulated depreciation (30,617) (46,888) (902) (41,079) (4,897) – (124,383)

Net carrying amount 70,273 34,276 654 30,678 9,929 153,962 299,772

The buildings of the Group are situated in the PRC.
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software 2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated amortisation 1,045 1,543

Addition – 109

Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) (447) (607)

Carrying amount at 31 December 598 1,045

At 31 December:

Cost 5,991 5,991

Accumulated amortisation (5,393) (4,946)

Net carrying amount 598 1,045

15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of plant and properties used in its operations. Lump sum 

payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 50 years, and 

no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of plant generally have lease 

terms of 5 years, while properties generally have lease terms between 2 and 5 years. The other properties 

generally have lease terms of 12 months or less and/or are individually of low value. Generally, the Group 

is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There are several lease 

contracts that include extension options, which are further discussed below.
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15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are as 

follows:

Leasehold 

land

Properties 

and plant Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2019 37,500 3,847 41,347

Additions – 22,792 22,792

Depreciation charge (860) (4,668) (5,528)

As at 31 December 2019 and  

1 January 2020 36,640 21,971 58,611

Additions – 3,419 3,419

Depreciation charge (861) (6,640) (7,501)

Revision of a lease term arising from  

a change in the non-cancellable  

period of a lease – (60) (60)

As at 31 December 2020 35,779 18,690 54,469
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15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:

Lease liabilities 2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 21,745 2,491

New leases 3,419 22,792

Accretion of interest recognised during the year 972 671

Payments (7,735) (4,209)

Revision of a lease term arising from a change  

in the non-cancellable period of a lease (8) –

Carrying amount at 31 December 18,393 21,745

Analysed into:

Current portion 5,389 5,565

Non-current portion 13,004 16,180

Carrying amount at 31 December 18,393 21,745
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15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on lease liabilities 972 671

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 7,501 5,528

Expense relating to short-term leases and other  

leases with remaining lease terms ended on or  

before 31 December 2019 (included in selling and 

distribution expenses and administrative expenses) 3,096 6,467

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 11,569 12,666

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 29(c) to the financial statements.
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16. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Depreciation 

allowance 

in excess 

of related 

depreciation

Provision for 

impairment of 

assets

Unrealised 

gains 

resulting from 

intra group 

transactions

Contract 

liabilities Accruals

Tax 

losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2019 949 1,515 218 4,167 8,967 2,632 18,448

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to  

profit or loss during the year (note 10) 193 1,148 1,804 (1,477) 788 (946) 1,510

Gross deferred tax assets at  

31 December 2019 1,142 2,663 2,022 2,690 9,755 1,686 19,958

At 1 January 2020 1,142 2,663 2,022 2,690 9,755 1,686 19,958

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to  

profit or loss during the year (note 10) 212 287 (332) 383 (1,448) 46,582 45,684

Gross deferred tax assets at  

31 December 2020 1,354 2,950 1,690 3,073 8,307 48,268 65,642
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16. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

Withholding 

tax on 

distributable 

profits of the 

Group’s PRC 

subsidiaries

RMB’000

At 1 January 2020 3,324

Deferred tax charged to profit or loss during the year (note 10) –

Settlement during the year –

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2020 3,324

Withholding 

tax on 

distributable 

profits of the

Group’s PRC 

subsidiaries

RMB’000

At 1 January 2019 4,361

Deferred tax charged to profit or loss during the year (note 10) 2,184

Settlement during the year (3,221)

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2019 3,324
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16. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to 

foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in the Mainland China. The requirement 

is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower 5% withholding 

tax rate may be applied if there is a tax arrangement between the Mainland China and the jurisdiction of 

the foreign investors. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those 

subsidiaries established in the Mainland China in respect of earnings generated since 1 January 2008. No 

deferred taxes have been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings 

for the years ended 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB2,184,000).

The aggregate amounts of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in the Mainland 

China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately RMB459,053,000 and 

RMB557,601,000 as at 31 December 2019 and 2020, respectively. In the opinion of the directors, it is not 

probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its 

shareholders.

The Group had tax losses arising in Hong Kong of RMB427,000 and RMB424,000 as at 31 December 2019 

and 2020, respectively. These tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of 

the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these 

losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered 

probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

17. INVENTORIES

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 35,965 21,089

Work in progress 1,823 2,729

Finished goods 46,389 77,305

Consumables 7,845 12,834

92,022 113,957



122 Natural Food International Holding Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2020

18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 165,840 217,049

Bills receivable 4,671 19,184

Impairment (8,577) (10,650)

161,934 225,583

The Group’s trading terms with its sales channels are mainly on credit. The credit period is generally one 

month, extending up to three months for major sales channels. In view of the aforementioned and the fact 

that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified sales channels, there is no significant 

concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its 

trade receivable balances. Trade and bills receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice 

date and net of provisions, is as follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 month 149,620 179,945

1 to 2 months 2,053 28,109

2 to 3 months 800 4,796

Over 3 months 9,461 12,733

161,934 225,583
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade and bills receivables are as follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

At beginning of year 10,650 6,060

Impairment losses (note 6) 6,367 4,590

Amount written off as uncollectible (8,440) –

At end of year 8,577 10,650

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected 

credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments 

with similar loss patterns. For certain trade receivables for which the counterparty failed to make demanded 

repayment, the Group has made 100% provision (“default receivables”). Except for the default receivables, 

the Group used a calculation which reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and 

reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current 

conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due 

for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a 

provision matrix:

31 December 2020

Neither 
past 

due nor 
impaired

Less than 
1 month 
past due

1 to 2 
months 

past due

2 to 3 
months 

past due

More than 
3 months 
past due Total

Trade receivables (RMB’000) 137,284 12,648 1,655 924 13,329 165,840
Expected credit loss rate 0.1% 1.4% 6.2% 13.4% 60.3% 5.2%
Expected credit losses (RMB’000) 137 175 102 124 8,039 8,577

31 December 2019

Neither 
past 

due nor 
impaired

Less than 
1 month 
past due

1 to 2 
months 

past due

2 to 3 
months 

past due

More than 
3 months 
past due Total

Default receivables (RMB’000) 86 – 105 48 7,168 7,407
Expected credit loss rate 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Expected credit losses (RMB’000) 86 – 105 48 7,168 7,407

Other trade receivables (RMB’000) 187,499 8,124 3,568 3,651 6,800 209,642
Expected credit loss rate 0.1% 1.0% 2.0% 5.0% 40.0% 1.5%
Expected credit losses (RMB’000) 188 81 71 183 2,720 3,243

274 81 176 231 9,888 10,650

As at 31 December 2019, the loss allowance of RMB7,407,000 was made for specific trade receivables 

which were considered in default due to indicators which showed that the Group was unlikely to receive the 

outstanding contractual amounts in full. These trade receivables have been written off during the year.
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Structured deposits, at fair value 20,750 –

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had structured deposits denominated in RMB which are open ended and 

charged at the rates ranging from 0.35% to 0.80% per annum.

20. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments 14,188 18,848

Deposits 5,179 5,197

Value-added tax recoverable 11,436 13,913

Employee advances 6,362 16,199

Other receivables 7,485 12,908

Impairment allowance (note 6) (3,228) –

41,422 67,065

The Group has applied the general approach to provide for expected credit losses for financial assets included 

in prepayments, other receivables and other assets if they are not past due and there is no information 

indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, 

there were measured based on lifetime expected credit loss. The Group considers the historical loss rate and 

adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data in calculating the expected credit loss rate.
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND DEPOSITS

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash and bank balances 564,175 558,048

Restricted bank deposits 557 555

564,732 558,603

Less: Restricted bank deposits (557) (555)

Cash and cash equivalents 564,175 558,048

Denominated in:

– RMB 386,130 362,508

– HK$ 178,602 196,095

564,732 558,603

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control 

Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group 

is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange 

business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are 

deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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22. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as 

follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 month 40,285 47,100

1 to 2 months 8,101 11,772

2 to 3 months 2,010 2,567

Over 3 months 2,222 1,826

52,618 63,265

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms of 15 to 60 days.

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract liabilities 12,330 10,762

Contract liabilities represented the obligations to transfer goods to customers for which the Group has 

received consideration. The changes in contract liabilities are mainly attributable to the Group’s estimates of 

the loyalty points that will be redeemed subsequent to the end of the year.
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Accruals 37,867 35,396

Payables for purchase of materials and equipment 1,876 4,128

Deposits 805 3,098

Salaries and welfare payables 57,269 62,427

Other tax payables 17,668 19,406

Other payables 8,727 9,007

124,212 133,462

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

25. DEFERRED INCOME

Government grants RMB’000

At 1 January 2019 277

 

Addition –

Recognised during the year (189)

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 88

Addition 500

Recognised during the year (88)

At 31 December 2020 500

26. SHARE CAPITAL

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Issued and fully paid:

2,188,514,000 (2019: 2,193,014,000) ordinary shares 147 147
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:

Number of

ordinary shares Share capital

Notes RMB’000

At 1 January 2019 2,221,000,000 149

Shares repurchased 26(a) (29,000,000) (2)

Share options exercised 27 1,014,000 –

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 2,193,014,000 147

Shares repurchased 26(a) (4,500,000) –

Share options exercised 27 – –

At 31 December 2020 2,188,514,000 147

Note:

(a) The Company repurchased a total of 33,500,000 of its shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange at a total 
consideration of RMB46,124,000 during the year ended 31 December 2019. 29,000,000 and 4,500,000 shares 
repurchased were cancelled during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, respectively.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued under the scheme are included in 

note 27 to the financial statements.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing 

incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. 

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include employees (whether full time or part-time) or directors 

of a member of the Group or associated companies of the Company, consultants, advisors, customers, 

suppliers, agents, partners or contractors to the Group. The Share Option Scheme became effective from 12 

June 2019 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 9.5 years from that date.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be 

granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not in aggregate 

exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the Listing Date. The 10% limit may be refreshed 

with the approval by ordinary resolution of the shareholders. The maximum number of shares of the Company 

which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under 

the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the shares of the 

Company in issue from time to time. The maximum number of shares issued or to be issued upon exercise 

of share options granted to any one participant in a 12-month period shall not exceed 1% (or 0.1% for any 

substantive shareholder, independent non-executive director or other associates, see the paragraph below) of 

the issued shares of the Company.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of 

their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, 

any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the 

Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or 

with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 

million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted upon payment of a non-refundable nominal 

consideration of HK$1.00 by each grantee. The Share Option Scheme does not specify any minimum holding 

period but the board of directors has the authority to determine the minimum period for which a share option 

in respect of some or all of the shares forming the subject of the share options must be held before it can be 

exercised. The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the board of directors, and 

commences on a specified date and ends on a date which is not later than 11 December 2028.

The exercise price of a share option to subscribe for shares of the Company is determinable by the board of 

directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the Stock 

Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange 

for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s 

shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the Share Option Scheme of the Company during the 

year:

Numbers of share options

Date of 

grant

At 1 

January 

2020

Granted 

during the 

year

Exercised 

during the 

year

Forfeited 

during the 

year

At 31 

December 

2020

Exercise 

period 

(both dates 

inclusive)

Exercise 

price per 

share

 

i 12/06/2019 12,780,000 – – 330,000 12,450,000 12/06/2020– HK$1.468

11/12/2028

ii 12/06/2019 19,000,000 – – – 19,000,000 12/12/2019– HK$1.468

11/12/2028

iii 12/06/2019 20,263,349 – – 2,838,130 17,425,219 12/06/2019– HK$1.468

11/12/2028

iv 12/06/2019 15,000,000 – – – 15,000,000 12/06/2020– HK$1.468

11/12/2028

 

67,043,349 – – 3,168,130 63,875,219

The Group recognised a share option expense of RMB10,704,000 during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options was estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial model, 

taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists 

the inputs to the model used:

Principal valuation parameter 2020 2019

Share price (HK$ per share) 1.40 1.40

Exercise price (HK$ per share) 1.468 1.468

Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.66 1.66

Expected life of options (years) 9.50 9.50

Expected volatility (%) 40.63 40.63

Expected dividend yield (%) 0.75 0.75

Early exercise behaviour 280% of the 

exercise price 

for share options 

granted to 

directors, 220% 

of the exercise 

price for share 

options granted 

to employees

280% of the 

exercise price 

for share options 

granted to 

directors, 220% 

of the exercise 

price for share 

options granted 

to employees

The expected life of the share options is the contractual life to maturity of the share options, and is not 

necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption 

that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

No share options exercised during the year.

At 31 December 2020, the Company had 63,875,219 share options outstanding under the Scheme. The 

exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of the Company, 

result in the issue of 63,875,219 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of 

RMB4,168 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had 63,875,219 share options outstanding 

under the Scheme, which represented approximately 3.0% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.
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28. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current year and prior year are 

presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 70 of this report.

(a) Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par value of the shares issued and the 

consideration paid.

(b) Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference between the aggregate of the paid up share capital of 

the subsidiaries and the consideration paid by the Group for the business combination under common 

control.

(c) Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all relevant exchange differences arising from the 

translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

(d) Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, each of the Company’s subsidiaries registered in 

the PRC is required to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory profit after tax (after offsetting any prior 

years’ losses), determined in accordance with PRC Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, to the 

statutory reserve until the balance of the reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s registered capital. 

The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital, provided the 

remaining balance of the statutory reserve is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use 

assets and lease liabilities of RMB3,419,000 and RMB3,419,000, respectively, in respect of lease 

arrangements for properties (2019: RMB22,792,000).
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

2020

Lease 

liabilities

RMB’000

At 1 January 2020 21,745

New leases 3,419

Accretion of interest expenses 972

Interest paid (972)

Principal elements of lease payments (6,763)

Revision of a lease term arising from a change  

in the non-cancellable period of a lease (8)

At 31 December 2020 18,393

2019

Bank and 

interest-bearing 

borrowings

Lease 

liabilities

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2019 70,096 2,491

New leases – 22,792

Accretion of interest expenses 144 671

Principal elements of lease payments – (4,209)

Repayment of a loan (69,567) –

Exchange realignment (673) –

At 31 December 2019 – 21,745
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash flows is as follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within operating activities 3,096 2,983

Within financing activities 7,735 4,209

10,831 7,192

30. COMMITMENTS

(a) The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Capital commitments 23,129 36,620

As at 31 December 2019 and 2020, the amounts of the capital commitments were related to the 

purchase of property, plant and equipment.
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had the 

following transactions with related parties during the year:

(1) Sales of goods to related parties:

2020 2019

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Shenzhen Jingya Natural Food  

Science and Technology Co., Ltd.  

(“Shenzhen Jingya”) (i) 590 1,248

Pepsico Foods (China) Co., Ltd. (ii) 171 –

761 1,248

Notes:

(i) The sales prices offered to Shenzhen Jingya were based on a cost-plus approach with a mark-up 
margin. Shenzhen Jingya is controlled by Wei Qiuping, the sister-in-law of Mr. Zhang Zejun. Shenzhen 
Jingya purchased goods from the Group during the years of 2019 and 2020.

(ii) The sales prices offered to Pepsico Foods (China) Co., Ltd. were made according to the published 
prices.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties

(1) Amount due from a director:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Mr. Zhang Zejun – 6

The balance as at 31 December 2019 was non-interest-bearing.
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued)

(2) Amounts due from related parties:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Shenzhen Jingya 10,261 10,802

Pepsico Foods (China) Co., Ltd. 187 –

10,448 10,802

The balance of amounts due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 

demand. The balances as at 31 December 2019 and 2020 were trade in nature.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short term employee benefits 3,192 2,828

Post-employment benefits 52 74

Equity-settled share option expense 2,150 1,020

5,394 3,922

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial 

statements.

The related party transactions in respect of item (a)(i) above also constitute connected transactions or 

continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each category of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as 

follows:

2020

Financial assets

Financial assets 

at fair value 

through 

profit or loss

Financial 

assets 

at amortised 

cost Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade and bills receivables – 161,934 161,934

Financial assets included in prepayments, 

other receivables and other assets – 9,436 9,436

Amounts due from related parties – 10,448 10,448

Financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss 20,750 – 20,750

Cash and cash equivalents – 564,175 564,175

Restricted bank deposits – 557 557

20,750 746,550 767,300

Financial liabilities

Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost

RMB’000

Trade payables 52,618

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 11,408

64,026
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued)

2019 

Financial assets

Financial 

assets at 

amortised cost

RMB’000

Trade and bills receivables 225,583

Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets 18,105

Amount due from a related party 10,802

Cash and cash equivalents 558,048

Restricted bank deposits 555

813,093

Financial liabilities

Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost

RMB’000

Trade payables 63,265

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 8,102

71,367
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33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December 2019 and 2020, the fair values of the Group’s financial assets or financial liabilities 

approximated to their respective carrying amounts.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits, trade 

and bills receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables, amounts due from related 

parties, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals and trade payables approximate to their 

carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager is responsible for determining the policies 

and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting date, the finance 

department analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs 

applied in the valuation. The directors review the results of the fair value measurement of financial instruments 

periodically for financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could 

be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The 

following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent wealth management products issued by banks in 

Mainland China and investment funds issued by the financial institution. The Group has estimated the fair value 

of these unlisted investments by using a discounted cash flow valuation model based on the market interest 

rates of instruments with similar terms and risks.
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33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices 

in active markets

Significant 

observable 

inputs

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 31 December 2020

Financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss – 20,750 –

As at 31 December 2019

Financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss – – –

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no 

transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents. The Group has various other 

financial assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from 

its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity 

risk. The directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates. Fluctuations in 

exchange rates between RMB and other currencies in which the Group conducts business may affect the 

Group’s financial condition and results of operations. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency 

hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging 

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible 

change in HK$ exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and 

equity.

Increase/
(decrease) in 

exchange rate

Increase/
(decrease) in 
profit before 

tax and equity
(%) RMB’000

2020
If RMB weakens against HK$ 5 8,896
If RMB strengthens against HK$ (5) (8,896)

2019
If RMB weakens against HK$ 5 9,797
If RMB strengthens against HK$ (5) (9,797)

Credit risk

The Group sells its products to end-customers via a chain of retail outlets or over third-party online retail 

platforms. It is the Group’s policy that all sales channels who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit 

verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, restricted 

bank deposit, deposits and other receivables, and amounts due from a director and related parties, 

arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these 

instruments.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s 

credit policy, which is mainly based on past due information unless other information is available without undue 

cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2020. The amounts presented are gross 

carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2020

12-month 

ECLs Lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Simplified 

approach Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade and bills receivables* – – – 170,511 170,511

Financial assets included in 

prepayments, other  

receivables and other assets

– Normal** 9,436 – – – 9,436

– Doubtful** – – 3,228 – 3,228

Amounts due from related parties

– Normal** 10,448 – – – 10,448

Cash and cash equivalents

– Not yet past due 564,175 – – – 564,175

Restricted bank deposits

– Not yet past due 557 – – – 557

584,616 – 3,228 170,511 758,355
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019

12-month 

ECLs Lifetime ECLs

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Simplified 

approach Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade and bills receivables* – – – 236,233 236,233

Financial assets included 

in prepayments, other 

receivables and other assets

– Normal** 18,105 – – – 18,105

Amount due from a related party

– Normal** 10,802 – – – 10,802

Cash and cash equivalents

– Not yet past due 558,048 – – – 558,048

Restricted bank deposits

– Not yet past due 555 – – – 555

587,510 – – 236,233 823,743

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on the 
provision matrix is disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, and amounts 
due from related parties is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information 
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit 
quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

Since the Group trades only with the end-customers, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations 

of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty and by geographical regions. There are no significant 

concentrations of credit risk within the Group as the sales channel bases of the Group’s trade receivables are 

widely dispersed in a large number of diversified retail outlets or third-party online retail platforms.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and 

other receivables are disclosed in notes 18 and 20 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use 

of interest-bearing borrowings. The Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to ensure that it has 

adequate financial resources in meeting its financial obligations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the 

contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:

2020

On 

demand

Less than 

3 months

3 to 

less than 

12 months

1 to 5 

years

Over 

5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 40,285 10,111 2,222 – – 52,618

Lease liabilities – 1,791 4,516 13,803 – 20,110

Financial liabilities included in 

other payables and accruals 10,073 530 805 – – 11,408

50,358 12,432 7,543 13,803 – 84,136
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

2019

On 

demand

Less than 

3 months

3 to 

less than 

12 months

1 to 5 

years

Over 

5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 47,100 14,339 1,826 – – 63,265

Lease liabilities – 1,879 4,833 17,564 – 24,276

Financial liabilities included in 

other payables and accruals 7,226 876 – – – 8,102

54,326 17,094 6,659 17,564 – 95,643

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise the 

shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 

conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 

the shareholders, return capital to the shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any 

externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for 

managing capital during the reporting periods.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total debt divided by total assets. Total debt 

includes lease liabilities. The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a reasonable level. The gearing 

ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

31 December 

2020

31 December 

2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

Lease liabilities 18,393 21,745

Total debts 18,393 21,745

Total assets 1,318,116 1,355,402

Gearing ratio 1.4% 1.6%

35. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group has no significant subsequent events after 31 December 2020 which are required to be disclosed 

as at the date of this report.
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as 

follows:

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investments in subsidiaries 96,200 97,306

Total non-current assets 96,200 97,306

CURRENT ASSETS

Amount due from a director – 6

Amounts due from subsidiaries 442,098 461,602

Cash and cash equivalents 98,663 119,345

Total current assets 540,761 580,953

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Amounts due to subsidiaries 9,209 7,822

Other payables 1,574 1,159

Total current liabilities 10,783 8,981

NET CURRENT ASSETS 529,978 571,972

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 626,178 669,278

NET ASSETS 626,178 669,278

EQUITY

Share capital 147 147

Treasury shares – (6,359)

Reserves (note) 626,031 675,490

Total equity 626,178 669,278
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share 
premium

Share option 
reserve

Exchange 
fluctuation 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2019 1,222,304 – (18,741) (482,542) 721,021

Profit for the year – – – 47,136 47,136
Translation from functional currency 

to presentation currency – – 15,763 – 15,763

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – 15,763 47,136 62,899

Shares repurchased and cancelled (39,763) – – – (39,763)
Equity-settled share  

option arrangements – 15,229 – – 15,229
Share options exercised 1,750 (440) – – 1,310
Share issue expenses (590) – – – (590)
Final 2018 dividend declared – – – (45,012) (45,012)
Interim 2019 dividend (39,604) – – – (39,604)

At 31 December 2019 and  
1 January 2020 1,144,097 14,789 (2,978) (480,418) 675,490

Loss for the year – – – (13,892) (13,892)
Translation from functional currency 

to presentation currency – – (39,912) – (39,912)

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – (39,912) (13,892) (53,804)

Shares cancelled (6,359) – – – (6,359)
Equity-settled share option 

arrangements – 10,704 – – 10,704

At 31 December 2020 1,137,738 25,493 (42,890) (494,310) 626,031

37. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2021.
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Financial Summary

　
　

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

FY2020 FY2019 FY2018 FY2017 FY2016

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 1,438,547 1,784,086 1,818,066 1,576,145 1,205,504

Cost of sales (431,996) (464,884) (427,398) (374,325) (276,983)

Gross profit 1,006,551 1,319,202 1,390,668 1,201,820 928,521

Other income and gains 9,918 22,854 21,970 15,624 14,604

Selling and distribution expenses (967,229) (1,092,422) (1,070,944) (926,094) (734,772)

Administrative expenses (81,020) (102,905) (133,161) (85,603) (69,584)

Impairment loss on  

financial assets (9,595) (4,590) (3,233) (344) –

Other expenses (10,713) (1,259) (1,525) (876) (2,179)

Finance costs (972) (815) (436) (216) (964)

Loss on fair value changes of  

convertible and redeemable 

preferred shares – – (75,706) (2,196) (27,102)

(Loss)/Profit before tax (53,060) 140,065 127,633 202,115 108,254

Income tax credit/(expenses) 38,608 (13,735) (22,394) (16,416) (20,647)

(Loss)/Profit for the year (14,452) 126,330 105,239 185,699 87,607

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent (14,452) 126,330 105,239 185,699 87,607

Adjusted net (loss)/profit 1 (14,452) 126,330 213,001 188,461 115,130

Note 1: Adjusted net (loss)/profit represents (loss)/profit for the year before loss on fair value changes of convertible and redeemable 
preferred shares and listing expenses. Adjusted net profit is not a standard measure under HKFRSs. To supplement the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements which are presented in accordance with HKFRS, the Group has presented 
adjusted net profit as an additional measure to evaluate the financial performance of the Group by considering the impact of 
certain items that the Group believes is frequently used by analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of 
companies in the industry that the Group operates and by eliminating the impact of certain unusual and non-recurring item 
that the Group does not consider indicative of the performance of the Group’s business.
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CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Total assets 1,318,116 1,355,402 1,401,276 868,281 690,041

Total liabilities 242,628 265,561 328,451 511,205 638,169

Total equity 1,075,488 1,089,841 1,072,825 357,076 51,872
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In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the following 

meanings:

“2020 AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 31 May 2021 for 

the year ended 31 December 2020

“AGM” annual general meeting of the Company

“Articles” or “Articles of 

Association”

the articles of association of the Company as amended from time to time

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board

“Board of Directors” or “Board” our board of Directors

“Biostime” Biostime International Holdings Limited（合生元國際控股有限公司）, an 

exempted company incorporated with limited liability under the laws of the 

Cayman Islands on April 30, 2010, the shares of which are listed on the Stock 

Exchange (stock code: 1112)

“China” or “PRC” the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual report 

and for geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

“CG Code” the Corporate Governance Code as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing 

Rules

“Company” or “our Company” Natural Food International Holding Limited（五谷磨房食品國際控股有限公司）
(formerly known as Roomy Development Holdings Limited), a limited liability 

company incorporated under the laws of the BVI on November 30, 2009 and 

registered by way of continuation to the Cayman Islands on May 11, 2018 

as an exempted company with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman 

Islands

“Deed of Non-competition” a deed of non-competition entered into by Mr. Zhang and Natural Capital 

and our Company dated 22 November 2018 regarding non-competition 

undertakings given by Mr. ZHANG Zejun and Natural Capital in favor of our 

Company

“Director(s)” The director(s) of the Company or any one of them
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“Global Offering” the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of Shares as 

described in the Prospectus

“Group” the Company and its subsidiaries

“Guangzhou Natural Food” Natural Food (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.（五谷磨房（廣州）食品有限責任公司）, a 

company established under the laws of the PRC on March 16, 2016 and an 

indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“HK$” Hong Kong dollars and cents, both are the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“Listing Date” 12 December 2018, on which the Shares were listed and from which dealings 

therein were permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited (as amended from time to time)

“Model Code” the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” set 

out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

“Natural Capital” Natural Capital Holding Limited, a limited liability company incorporated under 

the laws of the BVI on June 3, 2011, which is wholly-owned by Paddy Aroma 

Investment Limited under the Zhang Family Trust (which Mr. ZHANG Zejun is 

the settlor) and is the controlling Shareholder of the Company

“Natural Food HK” Natural Food International Group Limited 五谷磨房食品集團有限公司 

(formerly known as Natural Food International Group Limited 香雅國際集團有
限公司）, a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong 

on January 14, 2009 and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“Prospectus” the prospectus of the Company dated 29 November 2018

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

“Reporting Period” the year ended 31 December 2020
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“SFO” Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of The Laws of Hong Kong)

“Share Option” the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme

“Share Option Scheme” the share option scheme that the Company conditionally adopted pursuant to 

a resolution passed by our Shareholders on 19 November 2018

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of Shares

“Share(s)” common shares in the capital of our Company with nominal value of 

US$0.00001 each

“Shenzhen Fuya” Fuya Foods Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited（馥雅食品科技（深圳）
有限公司）, a company established under the laws of the PRC on June 4, 

2009 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“Shenzhen Xiangya” Shenzhen Xiangya Foods Company Limited（深圳市香雅食品有限公司）, a 

company established under the laws of the PRC on March 9, 2007 and an 

indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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